






January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 1 of 9

CITY OF ELKO
PLANNING COMMISSION

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES
5:30 P.M., P.S.T., TUESDAY, JANUARY 5, 2021
ELKO CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS,
1751 COLLEGE AVENUE, ELKO, NEVADA
https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/258016149

CALL TO ORDER

Jeff Dalling, Chairman of the City of Elko Planning Commission, called the meeting to order at
5:30 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Present: Jeff Dalling
Tera Hooiman
John Anderson
Stefan Beck
Gratton Miller
Giovanni Puccinelli
Mercedes Mendive

City Staff Present: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner
Michele Rambo, Development Manager
Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer
Jamie Winrod, Fire Marshal
Shelby Archuleta, Planning Technician

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

December 1, 2020 – Regular Meeting FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

***Motion: Approve the minutes from the December 1, 2020 meeting as presented.

Made by Tera Hooiman, seconded by Giovanni Puccinelli.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

A. PUBLIC HEARING



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 9

1. Review, consideration and possible recommendation to City Council for Rezone No.
3-20, filed by Elko Institute for Academic Achievement, for a change in zoning from
CT (Commercial Transitional) to PQP (Public, Quasi-Public) Zoning District,
approximately 11.38 acres of property, to allow for the development of a school, and
matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

The subject property is generally located on the northeast corner of the intersection of
College Avenue and Ruby Vista Drive. (APN 001-620-058)

Lori Lynch, 1031 Railroad Street, explained that the Charter School was currently located in a
warehouse facility on Railroad Street. They were under a 10 year lease, which expired as of June
2020. They had been looking at different opportunities for purchase to be able to move out of the
current facility. The current facility is not conducive, or meeting the needs of the kids or the
parents. They have been actively searching for an alternate location, either an existing building
or a property to accommodate a new build. They have been working on it for about two years.
They ended up purchasing this property last year and felt that the location, as far as the schools,
school district, college, and general area, would be the perfect location to include an elementary
school. Ms. Lynch explained that they are a K-8 school, with one classroom per grade. With the
new location they are going to expand into two classrooms per grade. They are currently working
with the USDA for financing of the facility. Charter Schools do not receive facility funds from
the State, and they are not part of the pay as you go program. It is their goal to put an elementary
school K-8 on the property. The facility is proposed to be approximately 30,000 square feet,
which will include the playground and surrounding area. There have already been several
environmental feasibility studies done on the property.

Julie Byrnes, 1213 Fairway Drive, explained that she lived in housing division located north of
the property. The division has only one exit out of housing area, which is next to the Sinclair
onto Ruby Vista Drive. There have been a lot of additions to the area in the last few years that
include the State Offices, Flagview Intermediate School, and Adobe Middle School. The traffic
for those schools goes across Ruby Vista, right by where the residents of the housing division
exit. The College has grown as well, so all the traffic is going down along College Parkway.
There has been no concern for traffic, or traffic control. With the addition of another school the
traffic is going to grow, both automobile traffic and pedestrian traffic. The speed limit will
probably be slowed to 15 MPH for the school zone. Ms. Byrnes said there would be times when
she wouldn’t be able to get out of her housing area. The traffic at the corner by Harbor House,
there are times when you can’t get across the street, and that is right where the school will be
going. Ms. Byrnes asked how the City was going to manage the traffic, so that people living in
this area can get in and out. There have been a lot of traffic accidents in the area, including
fatalities.

Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, went through the City of Elko Staff Report dated December 21,
2020. Staff Recommended conditional approval with the findings and conditions included in the
staff report. She also recommended that the Planning Commission include in their motion that
they recognize that there was a minor typographical error and recommend that staff revise the
legal notification prior to City Council. She clarified that College Parkway was referred to as
College Avenue. Ms. Laughlin explained that Condition No. 2, regarding the Conditional Use
Permit, should address Ms. Byrnes’s concerns. The Conditional Use Permit Application would



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 9

be a public hearing and the surrounding neighbors would be notified of the public hearing.
Planning Commission has the right to add conditions to the development to address concerns.
The item tonight is to consider the zoning of the property, not the development of the property.

Michele Rambo, Development Manager, wanted to reiterate what Ms. Laughlin said. Since this
is just a zone change, we don’t have the exact design of the school yet, so we don’t know certain
development issues. When a design of the building is received, then we can calculate the trip
generations. Usually it is based on either the number of students or the square footage of the
building. Since we don’t know that information, we can’t get an exact traffic count. When we get
that information if the trips per day is over 1,000, then it will trigger a traffic study. Ms. Rambo
had no other comments.

Bob Thibault, Civil Engineering, had no additional concerns or comments, and recommended
approval as presented.

Jamie Winrod, Fire Marshal, had no comments or concerns and recommended approval.

Ms. Laughlin stated that she would report for Mr. Wilkinson. He recommended approval as
presented by staff, and had no comments/concerns.

Commissioner Gratton Miller asked how many students would be at the new facility.

Ms. Lynch explained that they were at capacity in their current facility with 198 students. The
expansion, which will happen over extended period of time, would put their full capacity at
around 400 students. They have a 22 student per classroom capacity, and they would not go
beyond that. They would have two classrooms per grade. The plan at this time is to start with a
double capacity of grades K – 2, then expand one classroom each year after that. It will take a
few years to reach the full capacity.

Chairman Jeff Dalling asked if this was the same one they approved up into the Kmart.

Ms. Lynch said it was the same school, yes.

Ms. Byrnes said her biggest concern was only having one exit from the housing division. Even
with putting the entrance/exit to the school on Ruby Vista Drive, there would still be times where
they wouldn’t be able to get in or out of the housing division. She also thought there would be
times where emergency vehicles wouldn’t be able to get in or out. Ms. Byrnes thought it was
going to be a big traffic problem.

Chairman Dalling thought they could ask Ms. Winrod if the school would have to provide an
entrance and an exit for Fire Department access.

Ms. Winrod explained that it would depend on the size of building and how much room there is
around the building.

Ms. Lynch pointed out that their preliminary engineering and feasibility study showed two exits.
One on College Parkway, and the other on Ruby Vista Drive. There is an entrance and exit on



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 9

both of those roads. They have been working with an engineer for the drop-off and pick-up.
None of that would be on the street, it will all be internal.

Chairman Dalling asked if the main entrance was going to be on College Parkway.

Ms. Lynch explained that the way they were trying to plan for the traffic control was to have one
entrance and one exit, so they wouldn’t be going against traffic.

***Motion: Recognize that there is a minor typographical error in the agenda item,
recommend staff correct it before the item is considered by City Council, and forward a
recommendation to City Council to adopt a resolution which conditionally approves
Rezone No. 3-20 subject to the conditions found in the City of Elko Staff Report dated
December 21, 2020, listed as follows:

1. E.I.A.A. to be actively engaged in developing the property as a school within 4 years
after date of approval. Actively engaged could include but not be limited to
application submitted for a building permit.

2. Conditional Use Permit must be approved for the establishment of a new principal
permitted use and shall be governed by the conditional use permit procedure as set
forth in Elko City Code 3-2-18.

3. If conditions 1 & 2 are not met, the City Council shall take action to revert the
approved PQP zoning back to CT.

Commissioner Puccinelli’s findings to support the motion were the proposed zone district is
not in conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. The proposed zone
district is compatible with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan and is
consistent with the future transportation infrastructure. The property is not located within
the Redevelopment Area. The proposed zone district and resultant land use is in
conformance with the City Wellhead Protection Plan. The proposed zone district is in
conformance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-4(B). The proposed zone district is in
conformance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-8. The application is in conformance with
Elko City Code 3-2-21. The proposed zone district is not located in a designated Special
Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). Development under the proposed zone district will not
adversely impact natural systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands,
drainages, floodplains, etc., or pose a danger to human health and safety.

Made by Giovanni Puccinelli, seconded by Gratton Miller

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

II. NEW BUSINESS

A. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. Review, consideration and possible approval of Final Map No. 11-20, filed by Copper
Trails, LLC, for the development of a subdivision entitled Copper Trails Phase 2 Unit
2 involving the proposed division of approximately 16.96 acres of property into 10
lots for residential development and 1 remainder lot within the R (Single Family and



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 9

Multiple Family Residential) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR
POSSIBLE ACTION

Subject property is located north of the intersection of Copper Street and Mittry
Avenue. (APN 001-610-114)

Luke Fitzgerald, 2446 Crestview Drive, said he would be available for questions.

Ms. Rambo went through the City of Elko Staff Report dated December 6, 2020. Staff
recommended conditional approval with the conditions and findings listed in the staff report.

Ms. Laughlin recommended approval as presented by staff.

Mr. Thibault mentioned that he had four conditions that were included in the staff report. He
recommended approval as presented.

Ms. Winrod explained that she had one condition listed in the staff report and recommended
approval.

Ms. Laughlin said that the City Manager’s office recommended conditional approval with all
corrections and revisions to the map completed prior to City Council consideration.

Commissioner Mercedes Mendive asked what the largest and smallest square footage of the
single family homes were going to be.

Mr. Fitzgerald explained that they were currently in the planning stage. He was looking at
keeping smaller homes, around 1,500 to 2,000 square feet. On these lots they have built upwards
of 2,900 square foot homes, and that still could be a possibility. They have not determined the
largest square footage. They may have a home as small as 1,200 square feet.

Commissioner Mendive asked if it was just going to be regular residential neighborhood or if
there would be a Homeowner’s Association.

Mr. Fitzgerald stated that it was a regular residential neighborhood with no Homeowner’s
Association.

***Motion: Recommend that the City Council accept, on behalf of the public, the parcels of
land offered for dedication for public use in conformity with the terms of the offer of
dedication; that the final map substantially complies with the tentative map; that the City
Council approve the agreement to install improvements in accordance with the approved
construction plans that satisfies the requirements of Title 2, Chapter 3, and conditionally
approve Final Map 11-20 with conditions listed in the Staff Report dated December 9,
2020, listed as follows:

Community Development:
1. The Developer shall execute a Performance and Maintenance Agreement in

accordance with Section 3-3-21 of City code.  The Performance Agreement shall be
secured in accordance with Section 3-3-22 of City code.  In conformance with



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 9

Section 3-3-21 of City code, the public improvements shall be completed within a
time of no later than two (2) years of the date of Final Map approval by the City
Council unless extended as stipulated in City code.

2. The Performance and Maintenance Agreement shall be approved by the City
Council.

3. The Developer shall enter into the Performance and Maintenance Agreement within
30 days of approval of the Final Map by the City Council.

4. The Final Map for Copper Trails Phase 2 Unit 2 is approved for 10 residential lots
and 1 remainder lot.

5. The Utility Department will issue a Will Serve Letter for the subdivision upon
approval of the Final Map by the City Council.

6. Site disturbance shall not commence prior to approval of the project’s construction
plans by the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection.

7. Site disturbance, including clearing and grubbing, shall not commence prior to the
issuance of a grading permit by the City of Elko.

8. Construction shall not commence prior to Final Map approval by the City Council
and issuance of a will-serve letter by the City of Elko.

9. Conformance with the conditions of approval of the Tentative Map is required.
10. The Owner/Developer is to provide the appropriate contact information for the

qualified engineer and engineering firm contracted to oversee the project along with
the required inspection and testing necessary to produce an As-Built for submittal
to the City of Elko.  The Engineer of Record is to ensure all materials meet the latest
edition of the Standard Specifications for Public Works.  The Engineer of Record is
to certify that the project was completed in conformance with the approved plans
and specifications.

Engineering:
1. After recordation of the Unit 1 Final Map, verify the parcel number in the

Assessor's and Treasurer's certificates.
2. Correct the year in the Planning Commission certificate to 2018.
3. Update the year for most other certificates to 2021.
4. Create an easement for gang boxes.

Public Works:
1. All public improvements at time of development per Elko city code.

Utilities:
1. Public utility improvements at time of development per approved plans and City

code.

Fire:
1. Turnaround area at the north end of Mittry Avenue shall be a minimum of 96 feet

in diameter per IFC D103.4

Commissioner Puccinelli’s findings to support the motion were the Final Map for Copper
Trails Phase 2 Unit 2 has been presented before expiration of the subdivision proceedings
in accordance with NRS 278.360(1)(a)(2) and City Code. The Final Map is in conformance
with the Tentative Map. The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Land Use



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 7 of 9

and Transportation Component of the Master Plan. The proposed development conforms
with Sections 3-3-9 through 3-3-16 (inclusive). The Subdivider shall be responsible for all
required improvements in conformance with Section 3-3-17 of City Code. The Subdivider
has submitted construction plans in conformance with Section 3-3-18 of City Code. The
Subdivider has submitted plans to the City and State agencies for review to receive all
required permits in accordance with the requirements of Section 3-3-19 of City Code. The
Subdivider has submitted construction plans which, having been found to be in
conformance with Section 3-3-20 of City Code, have been approved by City Staff. The
Subdivider will be required to enter into a Performance Agreement to conform to Section
3-3-21 of City Code. The Subdivider will be required to provide a Performance and
Maintenance Guarantee as stipulated in the Performance Agreement in conformance with
Section 3-3-22 of City Code. The proposed development conforms to Sections 3-2-3, 3-2-4,
3-2-5(E), 3-2-5(G), 3-2-17, and 3-8 of City Code.

Made by Giovanni Puccinelli, seconded by Mercedes Mendive.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

2. Review, consideration, and possible action to develop the Calendar Year 2021
Planning Commission Annual Work Program, and matters related thereto. FOR
POSSIBLE ACTION

Each year the Planning Commission reviews the Annual Work Program. The work
program gives the Planning Commission direction on various issues to address
throughout the year.

Ms. Laughlin explained that it is a code requirement that we create a work program and the
Planning Commission approves it, and it goes to City Council for their approval as well. Ms.
Laughlin said when she started working on the Work Program this year and making revisions;
she thought to herself that the Planning Commission probably thinks that we don’t get anything
done in a year. We get a lot done in a year. Some of these things have remained on the Work
Program for several years, because some are tied up with legal and some of it is due to some very
intense zoning revisions to the City Code that take a lot of time. The first thing that is on the
Work Program is to repeal and replace the Sign Ordinance, which was started in February of
2019. We have started to write that Sign Ordinance. Ms. Laughlin explained that she received a
scholarship to attend a Sign Ordinance Planning Workshop last year in April, but it was
cancelled due to Covid-19. She was waiting to attend the workshop before she continued much
further into the Sign Ordinance. The Sign Code is one of the most controversial codes, with the
most court cases against zoning issues. Ms. Laughlin contracted with a legal firm that does
nothing but reviews sign ordinances and represents municipalities in sign ordinance cases. The
workshop has been rescheduled for April of this year. It is a really important workshop to attend
before continuing much further with the Ordinance. That is still on the Program, and hoping to
be completed by October 2021. Staff has reviewed the zoning for the RMH districts, and intend
on revising the map. We have gone through every subdivision and how they were created. There
are some areas that have soft set mobile homes next to permanent manufactured homes, and we
are trying to determine what can and can’t be done there. We would like to create a map that
calls out the different RMH districts. Staff started revising the Planning and Zoning Applications



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 8 of 9

in October 2017. Several of those require Zoning Code amendments. A lot of them got held up
with the legal counsel. Staff plans on continuing to work on those. We are doing Master Plan
Amendments for miscellaneous revisions. There were several in 2020, and there will probably be
several in 2021 as we come across things that need to be cleaned up. Staff started last month on a
revision to Section 3-2-21, Zoning Amendments. Right now they are currently done by
Resolution. We are completely changing that section, as we will be doing Zoning Amendments
by Ordinance. We will also be adding in another section that will clarify when it is an
amendment to the Zoning Code. The review between staff and legal determined that there are
two other sections of code that need to be changed to reflect the changes being made to Section
3-2-21. We are also planning some revisions to Section 3-3, Divisions of Land. There are some
clarifications that need to be done in that section. We always have the ongoing Planning
Commission training. Due to 2020 and not having public meetings, we did not get the annual
Open Meeting Law Training, but we will work on getting that done. It is a requirement by the
State that all Planning Commissioners and City Council members have that training every year.

Chairman Dalling thought it looked good. He felt like they did get a lot done.

***Motion: Approve the 2021 Planning Commission Work Program as presented.

Made by Giovanni Puccinelli, seconded by Mercedes Mendive.

*Motion passed unanimously. (7-0)

3. Election of officers, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION

Pursuant to Section 3-4-3 A. of the City Code, the Planning Commission shall elect a
Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and Secretary in January every year.

*Chairman Jeff Dalling nominated Tera Hooiman for Secretary; a vote was taken and
passed.

*Commissioner Tera Hooiman nominated Giovanni Puccinelli for Vice-Chairman; a vote
was taken and passed.

*Commissioner Stefan Beck nominated Jeff Dalling for Chairman; a vote was taken and
passed.

III. REPORTS

A. Summary of City Council Actions.

Ms. Laughlin reported that there was only one City Council meeting in December, it was
on the 8th. Planning only had one item on the agenda. They approved Revocable Permit
No. 4-20 for Ygoa, Ltd. It was to occupy 3 feet of right-of-way on Silver Street and 3rd

Street for the footing for a canopy that will be abutting their building, but it will be
projecting over the right-of-way. There were no Redevelopment meetings in December.

B. Summary of Redevelopment Agency Actions.



January 5, 2021 City of Elko Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 9 of 9

C. Professional articles, publications, etc.

1. Zoning Bulletin

D. Miscellaneous Elko County

E. Training

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC

There were no public comments made at this time.

NOTE: The Chairman or Vice Chairman reserves the right to change the order of the agenda
and if the agenda is not completed, to recess the meeting and continue on another
specified date and time. Additionally, the Planning Commission reserves the right to
combine two or more agenda items, and/or remove an item from the agenda, or delay
discussion relating to an item on the agenda at any time.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.

Jeff Dalling, Chairman Tera Hooiman, Secretary



Agenda Item # I.A.1.  

Created on 01/19/2021  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review and consideration of Tentative Map 12-20, filed by Jordanelle Third 

Mortgage, LLC for the development of a subdivision entitled Zephyr Heights 

involving the proposed division of approximately 25.109 acres of property into 70 

lots for residential development within the R (Multiple-Family and Single-Family 

Residential) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 

ACTION 
 

2. Meeting Date:  February 2, 2021 

 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS, PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Subject property is located on the east side of E Jennings 

Way generally north of the intersection with Puccinelli Parkway.  (APN 001-562-

010) 
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application and Staff Report 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Recommend that the City Council conditionally approve 

Tentative Map 12-20 based on facts, findings, and conditions as presented in the 

Staff Report dated January 19, 2021. 
 

9. Findings: See Staff Report dated January 19, 2021 

 

10. Prepared By: Michele Rambo, AICP, Development Manager 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC 

Attn: Scott Macritchie 

312 Four Mile Trail 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

High Desert Engineering 

Attn: Tom Ballew 

640 Idaho Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

 





Page 1 of 15

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

REPORT DATE: January 19, 2021
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: February 2, 2021
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: I.A.1.
APPLICATION NUMBER: Tentative Map 12-20
APPLICANT: Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Zephyr Heights

A Tentative Map for the division of approximately 25.109 acres into 70 lots for residential
development within an R (Single Family and Multiple Family Residential) zoning district.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND CONDITIONAL APPROVAL, subject to findings of fact and conditions as stated in
this report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 2 of 15

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: 001-562-010

PARCEL SIZE: 25.109 Acres

EXISTING ZONING: (R) Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential
(R1) Single-Family Residential

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: (RES-MD) Residential Medium Density
(RES-HD) Residential High Density

EXISTING LAND USE: Vacant

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:

The property is surrounded by:
 North: Single-Family Residential (R1) / Vacant
 South: General Commercial (C) / Partially Developed
 East: Industrial Commercial (IC) / Developed
 West: Single-Family Residential (R1) / Partially Developed

Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R) / Partially Developed

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:

 The property is an undeveloped residential parcel.
 The site abuts vacant residential land to the noth and west, developed residential land to

the southwest, apartments and other partially developed commercial land to the south,
and developed industrial commercial property to the east.

 The parcel has many slopes, but generally drains to the south.  The slopes have been
incorporated into the tentative map design where possible, but a large amount of grading
will be required and several large manufactured slopes will be created.

 The property will be accessed by two roads off of E Jennings Way.

APPLICABLE MASTER PLAN AND CITY CODE SECTIONS:

 City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
 City of Elko Development Feasibility, Land Use, Water Infrastructure, Sanitary Sewer

Infrastructure, Transportation Infrastructure, and Annexation Potential Report –
November 2012

 City of Elko Redevelopment Plan
 City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-3 General Provisions
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-5(E) Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential

District



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 3 of 15

 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-5(G) Residential Zoning Districts Area, Setback, and
Height

 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations
 City of Elko Zoning – Chapter 3 Subdivisions
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management
 City of Elko Public Ways and Property – Title 9, Chapter 8 Post Construction Runoff

Control and Water Quality Management

BACKGROUND:
1. The property owner and applicant is Jordanelle Mortgage, LLC.
2. The subdivision is located on APN 001-562-010.
3. The property is undeveloped.
4. The proposed subdivision consists of 70 residential lots.
5. The total subdivided area is approximately 25.109 acres.
6. The proposed density is 2.79 units per acre.
7. The subdivision is broken into 4 phases.
8. A total of 4.356 acres are dedicated roadways offered as part of the project.
9. The property is located on the east side of E Jennings Way generally north of the

intersection with Puccinelli Parkway.
10. A Stage 1 meeting for the proposed subdivision was held on August 17, 2020.

MASTER PLAN

Land Use:

1. The land use for the parcel is shown as Residential Medium Density on the northwest
portion of the parcel and Residential High Density on the southeast portion of the parcel.
The proposed density for the subdivision is 2.79 units per acre, which fits the medium
density category and is, therefore, in conformance.

2. Upon completion of a proposed rezone of the site, the zoning for the parcel will be
Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R), which is a corresponding zoning for
both the medium density and high density Master Plan categories.

3. The listed Goal of the Land Use Component states: “Promote orderly, sustainable growth
and efficient land use to improve quality of life and ensure new development meets the
needs of all residents and visitors.”

4. Objective 1 under the Land Use component of the Master Plan states: “Promote a diverse
mix of housing options to meet the needs of a variety of lifestyles, incomes, and age
groups.”

a. Best Practice 1.1 – The proposed subdivision meets several of the methods
described to achieve a diverse mix of housing types in the community.

b. Best Practice 1.3 – The location of the proposed subdivision appears to support
the City striving for a blended community by providing a mix of housing types in
the neighborhood and is supported by existing infrastructure.

5. Objective 8 of the Land Use component of the Master Plan states: “Ensure that new
development does not negatively impact County-wide natural systems or public/federal
lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains, etc. or pose a danger to human
health and safety.”  Staff believes there will be no negative impacts to natural systems
and no issue with regard to human health and safety.

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with the Land Use component of
the Master Plan.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 4 of 15

Transportation:

1. The project will be accessed from E Jennings Way.
2. E Jennings Way is classified as a Minor Arterial street until such time as the two ends of

Jennings Way connect. Once this happens, the classification moves to a Major Arterial.
3. The interior circulation of the project will be provided by four new roads to be dedicated

to the City of Elko.
4. The Master Plan requires Major Arterial streets to have 100 feet of right-of-way.

However, the current design of Jennings Way only includes 80 feet of right-of-way, as
required for a Minor Arterial.  A Minor Arterial street includes one travel lane in each
direction and a center turn lane.  A Major Arterial street includes two travel lanes in each
direction and a center turn lane.  City staff has determined that the additional lanes
required for a Major Arterial can be accommodated within the 80-foot right-of-way with
some minor alterations to lane design. Staff is currently working on a Master Plan
Amendment which would provide separate design criteria for Jennings Way so the
transition from Minor Arterial to Major Arterial can be accomplished when the time
comes.

5. E Jennings Way has 80 feet of right-of-way. No further dedications are required.
6. Upon full buildout, the proposed subdivision is expected to generate approximately 666

additional Average Daily Trips based on 9.52 trips/single-family unit (ITE Trip
Generation, 10th Edition). This is below the threshold for a traffic study established in the
Master Plan. However, as future subdivisions are developed in this area, the City may
want to consider undertaking a traffic analysis to determine impacts of future residential
growth and plan for mitigating these impacts in advance.

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with the Transportation
component of the Master Plan.

ELKO AIRPORT MASTER PLAN:

The proposed subdivision and development does not conflict with the Airport Master Plan.

CITY OF ELKO DEVELOPMENT FEASIBILITY, LAND USE, WATER
INFRASTRUCTURE, SANITARY SEWER INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORTATION
INFRASTRUCTURE, AND ANNEXATION POTENTIAL REPORT – NOVEMBER
2012:

The proposed subdivision does not conflict with the City of Elko Development Feasibility, Land
Use, Water Infrastructure, Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure, Transportation Infrastructure, and
Annexation Potential Report – November 2012.

ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN:

The property is not located within the Redevelopment Area.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN:

The property is located within the 30-year capture zone for multiple City of Elko wells.
Development of the site is required to be connected to a programmed sewer system and all street
drainage will be directed to a storm sewer system.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 5 of 15

SECTION 3-3-5 TENTATIVE MAP STAGE (STAGE II):

Tentative Map Approval 3-3-5(E)(2)(a)-(k) – Requires the following findings:

a. Environmental and health laws and regulations concerning water and air pollution, the
disposal of solid waste, facilities to supply water, community or pubic sewage disposal,
and, where applicable, individual systems for sewage disposal.

 The proposed subdivision will be connected to the city’s water supply system,
programmed sewer system, and is required to be in compliance with all applicable
federal, state, and local requirements.

b. The availability of water which meets applicable health standards and is sufficient in
quantity for the reasonably foreseeable needs of the subdivision.

 The City of Elko Engineering Department is required to model the anticipated
water consumption of the subdivision.  The City of Elko Utility Department will
be required to submit a “Tentative Will-Serve Letter” to the State of Nevada.  The
water modeling requires an update to reflect the increased number of lots.
Current City-wide annual water usage is approximately 50% of the total allocated
water rights.

 City of Elko currently has excess pumping capacity of 3,081 gallons per minute.
Sufficient infrastructure and pumping capacity exists to provide the required
water volume to serve the proposed subdivision and development.

 The Developer will extend properly sized infrastructure as required for
development of the property.

 The proposed subdivision and development will not create an unreasonable
burden on the existing water supply.

c. The availability and accessibility of utilities.
 Utilities are available in the immediate area and can be extended for the proposed

development.

d. The availability and accessibility of public services such as schools, police protection,
transportation, recreation, and parks.

 Schools, fire and police, and recreational services are available throughout the
community.

e. Conformity with the zoning ordinance and the City’s Master Plan, except that if any
existing zoning ordinance is inconsistent with the City’s Master Plan, the zoning
ordinance takes precedence.

 The land use for the parcel is shown as Residential Medium Density on the
northwest portion of the parcel and Residential High Density on the southeast
portion of the parcel.

 Upon completion of a proposed rezone of the site, the zoning for the parcel will
be Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential (R), which is a corresponding
zoning for both the medium density and high density Master Plan categories.  A



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 6 of 15

condition of approval has been added below requiring Rezone 6-20 be approved
and in place prior to the applicant submitting the Final Map to the City.

 Residential Medium Density is intended for residential development at a density
between four and eight units per acre, while Residential High Density would
allow densities more than eight units per acre. The proposed density for the
subdivision is 3.37 units per acre, which fits the medium density category and is,
therefore, in conformance with both designations.

 The proposed subdivision is otherwise in conformance with the City’s Master
Plan as well as the Zoning Ordinance.

f. General conformity with the City’s Master Plan of streets and highways.
 The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the Transportation Component

of the Master Plan.

g. The effect of the proposed subdivision on existing public streets and the need for new
streets or highways to serve the subdivision.

 The proposed subdivision and development will add approximately 666 Average
Daily Trips to E Jennings Way.  Based on the threshold of 1,000 ADT referenced
in the Master Plan, a traffic study is not required with this subdivision.

 The proposed subdivision and development will not cause unreasonable traffic
congestion or unsafe conditions with respect to existing or proposed streets.

h. Physical characteristics of the land, such as floodplain, slope, and soil.
 The proposed subdivision and subsequent development of the property is

expected to reduce the potential for erosion in the immediate area.  Development
of the property will not cause unreasonable soil erosion.

 A hydrology report is required with the Final Map and Construction Plan
submittal.

 The proposed subdivision and development is not expected to result in
unreasonable erosion or reduction in the water holding capacity of the land
thereby creating a dangerous or unhealthy condition.

 The proposed grading of the site creates some significant slopes around the
property boundaries, and to a smaller extent, between some of the lots themselves.
A condition of approval has been added below requiring any slopes of 3:1 or more
be stabilized in accordance with the City’s BMP manual.

i. The recommendations and comments and those entities and persons reviewing the
Tentative Map pursuant to this Chapter and NRS 278.330 to 278.3485, inclusive.

 Any comments received from other entities and persons reviewing the Tentative
Map have been incorporated either as revisions to the Map or as conditions of
approval.

j. The availability and accessibility of fire protection, including, but not limited to, the
availability and accessibility of water and services for the prevention and containment of
fires, including fires in wild lands.

 Fire protection services are available throughout the community.
 A sufficient amount of water exists in this area for use in fire containment.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 7 of 15

 The City of Elko Fire Department has reviewed the application materials for
compliance with all fire code requirements.

k. The submission by the subdivider of an affidavit stating that the subdivider will make
provision for payment of the tax imposed by Chapter 375 of NRS and for compliance
with the disclosure and recording requirements of Subsection 5 of NRS 598.0923, if
applicable, by the subdivider or any successor in interest.

 The subdivider/developer is required to comply with all applicable sections of
Chapters 375 and 598 of the NRS.

There are no obvious considerations or concerns which indicate the proposed subdivision would
not be in conformance with all applicable provisions.

SECTION 3-3-6 CONTENT AND FORMAT OF TENTATIVE MAP SUBMITTAL:

A. Form and Scale – The Tentative Map conforms to the required size and form
specifications.

B. Identification Data
1. The subdivision name, location, and section/township/range, with bearing to a

section corner or quarter-section corner, is shown.
2. The name, address, email, and telephone number of the subdivider is shown.
3. The engineer’s name, address, and telephone number are shown.
4. The scale is shown on all sheets.
5. The north arrow is shown on all sheets.
6. The date of initial preparation and dates of any subsequent revisions are shown.
7. A location map is provided.
8. A legal description is provided.

C. Physical Conditions
1. The existing topography of the site is shown.
2. Existing drainage conditions are shown on the Tentative Map.
3. There are no Special Flood Hazards within the proposed subdivision.
4. All roadways, easements, and corporate limits are shown within and adjacent to

the subdivision.
5. Dimensions of all subdivision boundaries are shown on the Tentative Map.
6. Gross and net acreage of the subdivision is shown.

D. Recorded Map Information:
1. Any previously recorded maps for adjacent properties are labeled on the Tentative

Map.
E. Existing Zoning:

1. The zoning is shown for the subject property.  Zoning classifications for adjacent
properties are also shown on the Tentative Map.

F. Proposed Improvements and Other Features Data:
1. The proposed interior street layout is shown. All of the streets are named and

proposed for dedication.  The grades of the proposed streets are shown on the
grading plan.  The continuation of E Jennings Way along the project frontage is
shown on the map.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 8 of 15

2. The lot layout with consecutively numbered lots is shown.  The area and
dimensions for each lot are shown, as well as the total number of lots.

3. Typical easements will be required along all lot lines.
4. Street dedications are proposed for the four new streets.
5. Single-family residential units are allowed in the Single-Family and Multiple-

Family Residential zoning.
G. Proposed Deed Restrictions:

1. No proposed CC&R’s for the subdivision have been submitted.
H. Preliminary Grading Plan:

1. A grading plan has been provided. The cut and fill amounts are shown.
I. NPDES Permit Compliance:

1. The subdivider will be required to comply with the City of Elko’s storm water
regulations.

J. Proposed Utility Methods and Requirements:
1. The proposed sewage disposal infrastructure connecting to the City’s

infrastructure is shown on the utility plan.
2. The proposed water supply infrastructure connecting to the City’s infrastructure is

shown on the utility plan.
3. The Tentative Map shows storm water infrastructure.  A hydrology report will be

required with the Final Map and Construction Plan submittal.
4. Utilities in addition to City utilities must be provided with construction plans

required for Final Map submittal.
5. The City will not require a traffic impact study for the proposed subdivision.

SECTION 3-3-9 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBDIVISION DESIGN:

A. Conformance with Master Plan: The proposed subdivision is in conformance with the
Master Plan objectives for density and applicable zoning as discussed in detail above.

B. Public Facility Sites: No public facility sites are proposed for dedication.
C. Land Suitability: The area proposed for subdivision is suitable for the proposed

development based on the findings in this report.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-9 of City code.

SECTION 3-3-10 STREET LOCATION AND ARRANGEMENT:

A. Conformance with Plan: The proposed subdivision utilizes the extension of E Jennings
Way for access.

B. Layout: Street continuation through the proposed subdivision is not required.
C. Extensions: The extension of E Jennings Way is required as part of the proposed

subdivision.
D. Arrangement of Residential Streets: The arrangement of streets within the subdivision

prevents outside traffic from utilizing the neighborhood for cut-through traffic.
E. Protection of Residential Properties: Lots 1 and Lots 48 to 61 include frontage on E

Jennings Way, currently a Minor Arterial street. The subdivision has been designed so
that all lots will front onto interior streets running through the site. A note is included on



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 9 of 15

the map, and a condition of approval has been added, prohibiting lots to face on or have
direct access to E Jennings Way.

F. Parallel Streets: Consideration of street location is not required.
G. Topography: The proposed streets have been designated to address the topography of the

area.
H. Alleys: No alleys are proposed.
I. Half-Streets: Other than the extension of E Jennings Way, there are no half-streets

proposed. The other half of E Jennings Way will be completed when development occurs
on the other side of the street.

J. Dead-End Streets: There are no dead-end streets proposed. The streets are designed to
allow for appropriate turning movements for traffic, as well as fire trucks.

K. Intersection Design: The proposed intersections with E Jennings Way are code compliant.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-10 of City code.

SECTION 3-3-11 STREET DESIGN:

A. Required Right-of-Way Widths: E Jennings Way currently consists of the required 80
feet of right-of-way. All proposed streets are shown with the required 50 feet of right-of-
way.

B. Street Grades: The proposed street grades are code compliant.
C. Vertical Curves: Any vertical curves are code compliant.
D. Horizontal Alignment: The horizontal alignment of the streets and intersections are code

compliant.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-11 of City code.

SECTION 3-3-12 BLOCK DESIGN:

A. Maximum Length of Blocks: The block design does not exceed the maximum length of a
block and maximizes block length.

B. Sidewalks or Pedestrian ways: The proposed sidewalks are code compliant.  No other
pedestrian ways are proposed.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-12 of City code.

SECTION 3-3-13 LOT PLANNING:

A. Lot Width, Depth, and Area: The lots are in conformance with the specifications
stipulated for the zoning in Elko City Code 3-2-5 with the exception of Lots 47 and 48.
These lots are located on the outside curve of 90 degree turns and have short front lot
widths.  A modification of standards is required to make these lots conform.

B. Building Setback: The proposed subdivision, when developed, can meet setback
requirements as stipulated in Elko City Code 3-2-5(G).

C. Side Lot Lines: The side lot lines are generally at right angles to the proposed streets.
D. Accessibility: The development abuts a public street. All residents will have access to E

Jennings Way.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 10 of 15

E. Prohibitions: No units shall have direct access to E Jennings Way.  All access is to be
through the two proposed intersections on E Jennings Way.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-13 of City code with the needed
modification of standards.

SECTION 3-3-14 EASEMENT PLANNING:

A. Utility Easements: The applicant is proposing the typical utility and drainage easements
along property lines on individual parcels. Overhead utilities are not allowed within the
subdivision.

B. Underground Utilities: Overhead utilities are not allowed within the subdivision.  The
utility companies, at their discretion, may request a wider easement where needed.

C. Lots Facing Curvilinear Streets: Overhead utilities are not allowed within the subdivision.
D. Public Drainage Easement: The applicant is proposing the typical utility and drainage

easements along property lines on individual parcels.
E. Easement Land Not Considered and Considered in Minimum Lot Area Calculation: All

calculations appear to be correct.
F. Lots Backing Onto Arterial Streets: Lot 1 and Lots 48-61 back have frontage along E

Jennings Way, currently a Minor Arterial street. A condition of approval found below
requires that all lots face the interior streets and no access be allowed from these lots onto
E Jennings Way.

G. Water and Sewer Lines: The utilities are shown in the existing exterior streets, within
proposed side or rear easements, and in the proposed interior streets. Sanitary sewer will
tie into the existing city infrastructure near the southwest corner of the property.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-14 of City code.

SECTION 3-3-15 STREET NAMING:

The subdivider has proposed four new street names (Incline Avenue, Tahoe Road, Virginia Lane,
and Paradise Way). However, two of these (Virginia Lane and Paradise Way) have been deemed
too similar to other existing street names, and will need to be given new names on the Final Map.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-3-15 of City code.

SECTIONS 3-3-16 STREET LIGHT DESIGN STANDARDS:

Conformance is required with the submittal of construction plans.

SECTION 3-3-17 through 3-3-22 (inclusive):

All referenced sections are applicable to Final Map submission, approval, and construction plans.

SECTION 3-3-23 PARK LAND DEDICATIONS:

There is no offer of dedication for park lands.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 11 of 15

SECTION 3-2-3 GENERAL PROVISIONS:

Section 3-2-3(C)(1) of City code specifies use restrictions.  The following use restrictions shall
apply:

Principal Uses: Only those uses and groups of uses specifically designated as “principal uses
permitted” in zoning district regulations shall be permitted as principal uses; all other uses shall
be prohibited as principal uses.

Accessory Uses: Uses normally accessory and incidental to permitted principal or conditional
uses may be permitted as hereinafter specified.

Other uses may apply under certain conditions with application to the City.

Section 3-2-3(D) states that: “No land may be used or structure erected where the land is held by
the planning commission to be unsuitable for such use or structure by reason of flooding,
concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation, extreme topography,
low bearing strength, erosion susceptibility, or any other features likely to be harmful to the
health, safety, and general welfare of the community.  The planning commission, in applying the
provisions of this section, shall state in writing the particular facts upon which its conclusions are
based.  The applicant shall have the right to present evidence contesting such determination to
the city council if he or she so desires, whereupon the city council may affirm, modify, or
withdraw the determination of unsuitability.”

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with Section 3-2-3 of City code.

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS:

1. Section 3-2-4(B) Required Conformity to District Regulations: The regulations set forth
in this chapter for each zoning district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply
uniformly to each class or kind of structure or land, except as provided in this subsection.

2. Section 3-2-4(B)(4) stipulates that no yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof
shall be reduced in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth in this
title.

The proposed subdivision is in conformance with Section 3-2-4 of City code.

SECTION 3-2-5(E) R SINGLE-FAMILY AND MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL
DISTRICT:

Section 3-2-5(E)(2) Principal Uses Permitted:

1. Adult care facility which serves ten (10) or fewer.
2. Electric power substations, sewer lift stations, and water pump stations wherein service to

district residents requires location within the district.
3. Multiple-family residential units, including a duplex, triplex, or a fourplex located on a

single lot or parcel, provided area and setback requirements are met.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 12 of 15

4. One single-family dwelling of a permanent character in a permanent location with each
dwelling unit on its own parcel of land and provided all area and setback requirements
are met.

5. Publicly owned and operated parks and recreation areas and centers.
6. Residential facility for groups of ten (10) or fewer.

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with Section 3-2-5(E).
Conformance with Section 3-2-5(E) is required as the subdivision develops.

SECTION 3-2-5(G) RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS AREA, SETBACKS, AND
HEIGHT:

1. Lot areas are shown.
2. Lot dimensions are shown. The lots are in conformance with the specifications stipulated

for the zoning in Elko City Code 3-2-5 with the exception of Lots 47 and 48.  These lots
are located on the outside curve of 90 degree turns and have short front lot widths.  A
modification of standards is required to make these lots conform.

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with Section 3-2-5(G) of City
code with the required modification of standards.

SECTION 3-2-17 TRAFFIC, ACCESS, PARKING, AND LOADING:

1. E Jennings Way is currently classified as a Minor Arterial street.  The interior circulation
of the project will be provided by four new roads to be dedicated to the City of Elko.

2. The proposed lots are large enough to develop the required off-street parking.  Each unit
will include a two-car garage within the individual lots.

The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with Section 3-2-17 of City code.
Conformance with Section 3-2-17 is required as the subdivision develops.

SECTION 3-8 FLOOD PLAIN MANAGEMENT:

The proposed subdivision and development is not located in a designated special flood hazard
area and is in conformance with Section 3-8 of City Code.

TITLE 9, CHAPTER 8 POST CONSTRUCTION RUNOFF CONTROL AND WATER
QUALTIY MANAGEMENT:

Final design of the subdivision is required to conform to the requirements of this title.  The
Tentative Map storm drain infrastructure is shown through the area.

OTHER:

The following permits will be required for the project:



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 13 of 15

1. State storm water general permit: Required submittals to the City of Elko are a plan view
showing the storm water controls, a copy of the Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan
(SWPPP) and a copy of the certified confirmation letter from the Nevada Department of
Environmental Protection.

2. A Surface Area Disturbance (SAD) is required if the disturbed area is equal to or greater
than five (5) acres.  A copy of the SAD permit is required to be submitted to the City of
Elko.

3. A street cut permit from the City of Elko.
4. A grading permit from the City of Elko (required for any ground work, including clearing

and grubbing).
5. All other applicable permits and fees required by the City of Elko.
6. The City of Elko also requires submittal of the plans to the individual utility companies

before permits will be issued for the project.

FINDINGS

1. The proposed subdivision and development is in conformance with both the Land Use
and Transportation components of the Master Plan as previously discussed in this report.

2. The proposed subdivision and development does not conflict with the Airport Master
Plan; the City of Elko Development Feasibility, Land Use, Water Infrastructure, Sanitary
Sewer Infrastructure, Transportation Infrastructure, and Annexation Potential Report –
November 2012; the Wellhead Protection Program; or applicable sections of the Elko
City Code.

3. The proposed subdivision complies with Section 3-3-5(E)(2)(a)-(k) as discussed in this
report and as required by Section 278.349(3) of the Nevada Revised Statutes.

4. The property is not located within the Redevelopment Area. Therefore, there is no
conflict with the Redevelopment Plan.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends this item be conditionally approved with the following conditions:

Development Department:

1. The associated Rezone 06-20 must be approved and in effect prior to submittal of the
Final Map.

2. The subdivider is to comply with all provisions of the NAC and NRS pertaining to the
proposed subdivision.

3. Tentative Map approval constitutes authorization for the subdivider to proceed with
preparation of the Final Map and associated construction plans.

4. The Tentative Map must be approved by the Nevada Department of Environmental
Protection prior to submitting for Final Map approval by the City of Elko.



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 14 of 15

5. Construction plans must be approved by the Nevada Department of Environmental
Protection prior to issuance of a grading permit.

6. Tentative Map approval does not constitute authorization to proceed with site
improvements.

7. The applicant must submit an application for Final Map within a period of four (4) years
in accordance with NRS.360(1)(a).  Approval of the Tentative Map will automatically
lapse at that time.

8. A soils report is required with Final Map submittal.

9. A hydrology report is required with Final Map submittal.

10. Final Map construction plans are to comply with Chapter 3-3 of City code.

11. The subdivision design and construction shall comply with Title 9, Chapter 8 of City
code.

12. The Utility Department will issue an Intent to Serve letter upon approval of the Tentative
Map by the City Council.

13. A modification from standards be approved by City Council for Lot 47 and 48 to allow
for shorter-than-required front lots widths.

14. A note shall be added to the Final Map stating that no lots are allowed to face onto, or
have direct access to, E Jennings Way.

15. Any slopes greater than 3:1 within the City right-of-way shall be rip-rapped.

Engineering Department:

16. Select a new name for Paradise Way. There is already a Paradise Drive in Elko. Reusing
names can create confusion.

17. Please choose a new name for Virginia Lane. There is already a Virginia Way in Elko.

18. Label the Centerline Curve at the northeasterly bend in Tahoe Rd.

19. Provide bearings along lot lines of Lots: 11-37 and 62-70.

20. Label the curve on Lot 1.

21. Add a note "No Lots will be allowed direct access to East Jennings Way."

22. At the north end of East Jennings Way, extend all utilities a minimum of 10' beyond the
end of the asphalt.

23. On the west side of Jennings, across from Tahoe Rd, relocate the storm drain lateral so



Tentative Map 12-20
Zephyr Heights

Page 15 of 15

that it does not line up with the future ADA ramp, and a catch basin can be placed on that
lateral when the other half of the road is built.

24. Relocate the mail box on Lot 17, to be closer to the street light, and away from the middle
of the lot.

25. Along Incline Avenue, revise the grading along the side lot lines so the crest of the slope
is at the lot line, to prevent cross lot drainage.

26. On the grading plan, label all slopes as 2:1 or 3:1, etc.

27. As part of the final design, all slopes steeper than 3:1 will require stabilization in
accordance with our Best Management Practices Handbook, to include velocity
dissipation devices, and stabilization practices designed to be used on steep grades.

Public Works Department:

28. All public improvements to be installed at time of development per Elko city code. See
memo from Community Development. If any landscaping is proposed in the ROW, it
shall be maintained by the developer.

Fire Department:

29. The temporary cul-de-sac turnaround at the end of E Jennings Way will need to be a
minimum of 96' in diameter. The notes section on sheet 2 complies, however map
measurements do not.







































 
 

LOT CALCULATIONS 
 

FOR 
 

ZEPHYR HEIGHTS SUBDIVISION 
ELKO, NEVADA 

 
 
 

PREPARED FOR: 
 

Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC 
312 Four Mile Trail 
Elko, Nevada  89801 

 
Contact: 

Scott MacRitchie 
 (775) 340-6005 

 
 

 
PREPARED BY 

 
HIGH DESERT Engineering 

640 Idaho Street 
Elko, Nevada 

 
November, 2020



page 1 
 

Parcel name: SUBDIVISION 
 
        North: 28480439.203          East : 610180.761       
Curve  Length: 226.11               Radius: 860.00      
        Delta: 15-03-52            Tangent: 113.71           
        Chord: 225.46               Course: N 02-16-01 E 
    Course In: N 80-12-03 W     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28480585.571          East : 609333.309       
    End North: 28480664.491          East : 610189.680       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 1071.21          
        North: 28481731.181          East : 610091.378       
Curve  Length: 352.53               Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 36-43-28            Tangent: 182.56           
        Chord: 346.53               Course: N 23-37-39 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: N 48-00-37 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.709          East : 609543.699       
    End North: 28482048.658          East : 609952.494       
Line  Course: N 37-05-21 E  Length: 223.41           
        North: 28482226.871          East : 610087.223       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 832.90           
        North: 28482220.976          East : 610920.102       
Line  Course: S 42-32-34 W  Length: 206.48           
        North: 28482068.847          East : 610780.493       
Curve  Length: 595.34               Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 89-45-52            Tangent: 378.44           
        Chord: 536.30               Course: S 09-05-30 W 
    Course In: S 54-12-34 W     Course Out: S 36-01-34 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.614          East : 610472.252       
    End North: 28481539.289          East : 610695.751       
Line  Course: S 54-38-16 E  Length: 430.47           
        North: 28481290.158          East : 611046.803       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 394.58           
        North: 28481013.609          East : 610765.352       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 819.57           
        North: 28480439.199          East : 610180.760       
Line  Course: N 09-52-09 E  Length: 0.00             
        North: 28480439.199          East : 610180.760       
 
   Perimeter: 5152.61   Area: 1,093,740 S.F. 25.109 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: S 13-36-44 W 
  Error North: -0.0045               East : -0.0011          
Precision  1: 1,030,520.00     
 
 
  



page 2 
 

Parcel name: STREET - INCLINE AVENUE 
 
        North: 28480868.182          East : 610349.770       
Curve  Length: 22.64                Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 17-17-38            Tangent: 11.41            
        Chord: 22.55                Course: S 76-05-16 W 
    Course In: N 22-33-33 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.444          East : 610320.997       
    End North: 28480862.760          East : 610327.880       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 63.31            
        North: 28480856.950          East : 610264.837       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28480872.385          East : 610263.414       
    End North: 28480873.807          East : 610278.849       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 1146.68          
        North: 28482015.649          East : 610173.621       
Curve  Length: 10.16                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 37-32-49            Tangent: 5.27             
        Chord: 9.98                 Course: N 24-02-19 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: N 47-11-16 E 
    RP  North: 28482014.226          East : 610158.187       
    End North: 28482024.760          East : 610169.557       
Curve  Length: 80.53                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 84-39-33            Tangent: 49.64            
        Chord: 73.40                Course: N 00-28-57 W 
    Course In: N 47-11-16 E     Course Out: N 48-09-11 W 
    RP  North: 28482061.798          East : 610209.538       
    End North: 28482098.158          East : 610168.939       
Line  Course: S 48-19-19 E  Length: 76.18            
        North: 28482047.502          East : 610225.837       
Curve  Length: 12.70                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 46-56-36            Tangent: 6.73             
        Chord: 12.35                Course: S 18-12-23 W 
    Course In: S 48-19-19 E     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28482037.195          East : 610237.414       
    End North: 28482035.773          East : 610221.980       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 1159.59          
        North: 28480881.076          East : 610328.392       
Curve  Length: 29.03                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 107-17-38           Tangent: 21.06            
        Chord: 24.97                Course: S 58-54-44 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: S 22-33-33 E 
    RP  North: 28480882.498          East : 610343.826       
    End North: 28480868.184          East : 610349.773       
 
   Perimeter: 2625.16   Area: 61,952 S.F. 1.422 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 55-06-35 E 
  Error North: 0.0021                East : 0.0030           
Precision  1: 656,292.50       
 
 
  



page 3 
 

Parcel name: STREET - PARADISE WAY 
 
        North: 28480863.896          East : 610171.302       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 50-15-55 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28480865.318          East : 610186.737       
    End North: 28480849.884          East : 610188.159       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 140.31           
        North: 28480862.760          East : 610327.877       
Curve  Length: 59.78                Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 45-39-57            Tangent: 31.58            
        Chord: 58.21                Course: N 61-54-06 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 50-55-52 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.443          East : 610320.995       
    End North: 28480890.174          East : 610379.224       
Line  Course: N 39-04-08 E  Length: 204.20           
        North: 28481048.713          East : 610507.922       
Curve  Length: 49.59                Radius: 275.00      
        Delta: 10-19-54            Tangent: 24.86            
        Chord: 49.52                Course: N 44-14-05 E 
    Course In: S 50-55-52 E     Course Out: N 40-35-58 W 
    RP  North: 28480875.393          East : 610721.429       
    End North: 28481084.194          East : 610542.468       
Line  Course: N 49-24-02 E  Length: 293.23           
        North: 28481275.018          East : 610765.111       
Curve  Length: 248.23               Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 260-57-32           Tangent: 63.86            
        Chord: 82.91                Course: S 00-07-12 E 
    Course In: S 40-35-58 E     Course Out: S 40-21-34 W 
    RP  North: 28481233.638          East : 610800.578       
    End North: 28481192.109          East : 610765.285       
Curve  Length: 21.90                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 80-57-32            Tangent: 13.23            
        Chord: 20.12                Course: S 89-52-48 W 
    Course In: S 40-21-34 W     Course Out: N 40-35-58 W 
    RP  North: 28481180.298          East : 610755.247       
    End North: 28481192.067          East : 610745.160       
Line  Course: S 49-24-02 W  Length: 224.10           
        North: 28481046.230          East : 610575.006       
Curve  Length: 40.57                Radius: 225.00      
        Delta: 10-19-54            Tangent: 20.34            
        Chord: 40.52                Course: S 44-14-05 W 
    Course In: S 40-35-58 E     Course Out: N 50-55-52 W 
    RP  North: 28480875.392          East : 610721.429       
    End North: 28481017.200          East : 610546.741       
Line  Course: S 39-04-08 W  Length: 204.20           
        North: 28480858.661          East : 610418.043       
Curve  Length: 99.63                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 45-39-57            Tangent: 52.63            
        Chord: 97.01                Course: S 61-54-06 W 
    Course In: N 50-55-52 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.443          East : 610320.995       
    End North: 28480812.970          East : 610332.466       
 
 
  



page 4 
 

Parcel name: STREET - PARADISE WAY (con’t) 
 
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 140.31           
        North: 28480800.094          East : 610192.748       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28480784.660          East : 610194.170       
    End North: 28480783.237          East : 610178.735       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 81.00            
        North: 28480863.896          East : 610171.302       
 
   Perimeter: 1855.74   Area: 46,290 S.F. 1.063 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 46-03-26 W 
  Error North: -0.0002               East : -0.0002          
Precision  1: 1,855,750,000.00 
 
 
  



page 5 
 

Parcel name: STREET - TAHOE ROAD 1 
 
        North: 28481711.347          East : 610201.660       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 50-15-55 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28481709.924          East : 610186.226       
    End North: 28481725.359          East : 610184.803       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 77.00            
        North: 28481718.293          East : 610108.128       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28481702.858          East : 610109.551       
    End North: 28481701.436          East : 610094.116       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 29.87            
        North: 28481731.180          East : 610091.375       
Curve  Length: 49.80                Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 5-11-16             Tangent: 24.92            
        Chord: 49.78                Course: N 07-51-33 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: N 79-32-49 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.708          East : 609543.696       
    End North: 28481780.494          East : 610084.568       
Curve  Length: 22.94                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 84-48-44            Tangent: 14.16            
        Chord: 20.91                Course: S 52-51-33 E 
    Course In: N 79-32-49 E     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481783.306          East : 610099.811       
    End North: 28481767.872          East : 610101.233       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 79.32            
        North: 28481775.151          East : 610180.218       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28481790.585          East : 610178.796       
    End North: 28481792.008          East : 610194.231       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 81.00            
        North: 28481711.350          East : 610201.664       
 
   Perimeter: 412.97   Area: 5,611 S.F. 0.129 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 48-37-26 E 
  Error North: 0.0029                East : 0.0033           
Precision  1: 103,245.00       
 
 
  



page 6 
 

Parcel name: STREET - TAHOE ROAD 2 
 
        North: 28482098.158          East : 610168.934       
Curve  Length: 80.53                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 84-39-32            Tangent: 49.64            
        Chord: 73.40                Course: N 84-10-35 E 
    Course In: S 48-09-11 E     Course Out: N 36-30-21 E 
    RP  North: 28482061.799          East : 610209.533       
    End North: 28482105.605          East : 610241.955       
Curve  Length: 9.53                 Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 35-13-26            Tangent: 4.92             
        Chord: 9.38                 Course: S 71-06-22 E 
    Course In: N 36-30-21 E     Course Out: S 01-16-55 W 
    RP  North: 28482118.064          East : 610251.176       
    End North: 28482102.568          East : 610250.829       
Curve  Length: 42.69                Radius: 525.00      
        Delta: 4-39-31             Tangent: 21.35            
        Chord: 42.67                Course: S 86-23-19 E 
    Course In: S 01-16-55 W     Course Out: N 05-56-26 E 
    RP  North: 28481577.700          East : 610239.084       
    End North: 28482099.880          East : 610293.420       
Line  Course: S 84-03-34 E  Length: 257.16           
        North: 28482073.265          East : 610549.199       
Curve  Length: 171.55               Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 78-38-03            Tangent: 102.37           
        Chord: 158.40               Course: S 44-44-33 E 
    Course In: S 05-56-26 W     Course Out: N 84-34-29 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.936          East : 610536.262       
    End North: 28481960.755          East : 610660.702       
Line  Course: S 05-25-31 E  Length: 65.38            
        North: 28481895.668          East : 610666.883       
Curve  Length: 196.70               Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 90-09-36            Tangent: 125.35           
        Chord: 177.02               Course: S 39-39-17 W 
    Course In: S 84-34-29 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.849          East : 610542.443       
    End North: 28481759.377          East : 610553.914       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 289.67           
        North: 28481732.794          East : 610265.466       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28481717.360          East : 610266.889       
    End North: 28481715.937          East : 610251.454       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 81.00            
        North: 28481796.596          East : 610244.021       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 50-15-55 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481798.018          East : 610259.456       
    End North: 28481782.584          East : 610260.878       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 289.67           
        North: 28481809.166          East : 610549.326       
 
 
  



page 7 
 

Parcel name: STREET - TAHOE ROAD 2 (con’t) 
 
Curve  Length: 118.02               Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 90-09-36            Tangent: 75.21            
        Chord: 106.21               Course: N 39-39-17 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: N 84-34-29 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.849          East : 610542.443       
    End North: 28481890.940          East : 610617.107       
Line  Course: N 05-25-31 W  Length: 65.38            
        North: 28481956.027          East : 610610.926       
Curve  Length: 102.93               Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 78-38-03            Tangent: 61.42            
        Chord: 95.04                Course: N 44-44-33 W 
    Course In: S 84-34-29 W     Course Out: N 05-56-26 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.936          East : 610536.262       
    End North: 28482023.534          East : 610544.024       
Line  Course: N 84-03-34 W  Length: 257.16           
        North: 28482050.149          East : 610288.245       
Curve  Length: 50.98                Radius: 475.00      
        Delta: 6-08-58             Tangent: 25.51            
        Chord: 50.96                Course: N 87-08-03 W 
    Course In: S 05-56-26 W     Course Out: N 00-12-32 W 
    RP  North: 28481577.700          East : 610239.084       
    End North: 28482052.696          East : 610237.352       
Curve  Length: 13.02                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 48-06-47            Tangent: 6.92             
        Chord: 12.64                Course: S 65-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 00-12-32 E     Course Out: N 48-19-19 W 
    RP  North: 28482037.197          East : 610237.409       
    End North: 28482047.503          East : 610225.832       
Line  Course: N 48-19-19 W  Length: 76.18            
        North: 28482098.159          East : 610168.934       
Line  Course: N 46-44-09 W  Length: 0.00             
        North: 28482098.159          East : 610168.934       
 
   Perimeter: 2216.24   Area: 51,856 S.F. 1.190 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: N 38-32-46 W 
  Error North: 0.0008                East : -0.0006          
Precision  1: 2,216,250.00     
 
 
  



page 8 
 

Parcel name: STREET - VIRGINIA LANE 
 
   North: 28481235.969        East : 610295.682       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 81.00            
        North: 28481316.627          East : 610288.249       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 50-15-55 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481318.050          East : 610303.684       
    End North: 28481302.615          East : 610305.106       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 39.16            
        North: 28481306.209          East : 610344.101       
Curve  Length: 44.00                Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 33-36-59            Tangent: 22.66            
        Chord: 43.38                Course: N 67-55-35 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 38-52-54 E 
    RP  North: 28481380.892          East : 610337.218       
    End North: 28481322.509          East : 610384.297       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 150.65           
        North: 28481417.074          East : 610501.570       
Curve  Length: 21.90                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 80-57-32            Tangent: 13.23            
        Chord: 20.12                Course: N 10-38-20 E 
    Course In: N 38-52-54 W     Course Out: N 60-09-34 E 
    RP  North: 28481429.140          East : 610491.840       
    End North: 28481436.853          East : 610505.285       
Curve  Length: 248.23               Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 260-57-32           Tangent: 63.86            
        Chord: 82.91                Course: S 79-21-40 E 
    Course In: N 60-09-34 E     Course Out: S 38-52-54 E 
    RP  North: 28481463.971          East : 610552.559       
    End North: 28481421.546          East : 610586.769       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 219.78           
        North: 28481283.587          East : 610415.683       
Curve  Length: 73.34                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 33-36-59            Tangent: 37.76            
        Chord: 72.29                Course: S 67-55-35 W 
    Course In: N 38-52-54 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481380.892          East : 610337.219       
    End North: 28481256.420          East : 610348.690       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 39.16            
        North: 28481252.826          East : 610309.695       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28481237.392          East : 610311.117       
    End North: 28481235.969          East : 610295.683       
 
   Perimeter: 965.91   Area: 24,044 S.F. 0.552 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: N 54-27-46 E 
  Error North: 0.0002                East : 0.0003           
Precision  1: 965,920,000.00   
 
  



page 9 
 

Parcel name: LOT 1 
 
        North: 28480439.203          East : 610180.761       
Curve  Length: 226.11               Radius: 860.00      
        Delta: 15-03-52            Tangent: 113.71           
        Chord: 225.46               Course: N 02-16-01 E 
    Course In: N 80-12-03 W     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28480585.571          East : 609333.309       
    End North: 28480664.491          East : 610189.680       
Line  Course: N 05-15-56 W  Length: 119.25           
        North: 28480783.238          East : 610178.736       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28480784.660          East : 610194.171       
    End North: 28480800.095          East : 610192.748       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 90.50            
        North: 28480808.400          East : 610282.866       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 247.59           
        North: 28480561.854          East : 610305.587       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 175.00           
        North: 28480439.203          East : 610180.761       
 
   Perimeter: 882.80   Area: 32,610 S.F. 0.749 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 29-40-26 W 
  Error North: -0.0009               East : -0.0005          
Precision  1: 882,800.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 2 
 
   North: 28480808.400        East : 610282.866       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 49.81            
        North: 28480812.971          East : 610332.466       
Curve  Length: 26.89                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 12-19-35            Tangent: 13.50            
        Chord: 26.84                Course: N 78-34-17 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 17-35-30 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.443          East : 610320.995       
    End North: 28480818.289          East : 610358.774       
Line  Course: S 17-35-34 E  Length: 163.31           
        North: 28480662.617          East : 610408.134       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 143.77           
        North: 28480561.853          East : 610305.584       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 247.59           
        North: 28480808.399          East : 610282.864       
 
   Perimeter: 631.37   Area: 19,854 S.F. 0.456 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 63-59-13 W 
  Error North: -0.0011               East : -0.0023          
Precision  1: 210,456.67       
  



page 10 
 

Parcel name: LOT 3 
 
        North: 28480818.289          East : 610358.776       
Curve  Length: 64.07                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 29-22-09            Tangent: 32.76            
        Chord: 63.37                Course: N 57-43-26 E 
    Course In: N 17-35-30 W     Course Out: S 46-57-39 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.444          East : 610320.997       
    End North: 28480852.131          East : 610412.358       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 132.22           
        North: 28480757.820          East : 610505.027       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 135.84           
        North: 28480662.614          East : 610408.133       
Line  Course: N 17-35-34 W  Length: 163.31           
        North: 28480818.286          East : 610358.773       
 
   Perimeter: 495.44   Area: 13,813 S.F. 0.317 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: S 42-47-31 W 
  Error North: -0.0034               East : -0.0031          
Precision  1: 99,088.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 4 
 
        North: 28480852.131          East : 610412.358       
Curve  Length: 8.66                 Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 3-58-13             Tangent: 4.33             
        Chord: 8.66                 Course: N 41-03-14 E 
    Course In: N 46-57-39 W     Course Out: S 50-55-52 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.444          East : 610320.997       
    End North: 28480858.662          East : 610418.046       
Line  Course: N 39-04-08 E  Length: 73.83            
        North: 28480915.983          East : 610464.577       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 141.17           
        North: 28480815.287          East : 610563.519       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 82.00            
        North: 28480757.816          East : 610505.029       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 132.22           
        North: 28480852.127          East : 610412.360       
 
   Perimeter: 437.88   Area: 11,197 S.F. 0.257 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 30-09-43 E 
  Error North: -0.0039               East : 0.0022           
Precision  1: 109,470.00       
 
 
  



page 11 
 

Parcel name: LOT 5 
 
   North: 28480915.984        East : 610464.578       
Line  Course: N 39-04-08 E  Length: 82.52            
        North: 28480980.051          East : 610516.587       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 150.41           
        North: 28480872.765          East : 610622.004       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 82.00            
        North: 28480815.294          East : 610563.514       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 141.17           
        North: 28480915.989          East : 610464.573       
 
   Perimeter: 456.10   Area: 11,955 S.F. 0.274 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.008                Course: N 43-07-47 W 
  Error North: 0.0056                East : -0.0053          
Precision  1: 57,012.50        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 6 
 
   North: 28480980.051        East : 610516.586       
Line  Course: N 39-04-08 E  Length: 43.33            
        North: 28481013.692          East : 610543.895       
Curve  Length: 39.01                Radius: 275.00      
        Delta: 8-07-37             Tangent: 19.54            
        Chord: 38.97                Course: N 43-07-57 E 
    Course In: S 50-55-52 E     Course Out: N 42-48-15 W 
    RP  North: 28480840.372          East : 610757.402       
    End North: 28481042.134          East : 610570.541       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 156.88           
        North: 28480930.233          East : 610680.493       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 82.00            
        North: 28480872.762          East : 610622.003       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 150.41           
        North: 28480980.048          East : 610516.586       
 
   Perimeter: 471.63   Area: 12,677 S.F. 0.291 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 08-50-13 W 
  Error North: -0.0030               East : -0.0005          
Precision  1: 157,210.00       
 
 
  



page 12 
 

Parcel name: LOT 7 
 
        North: 28481042.136          East : 610570.543       
Curve  Length: 10.58                Radius: 275.00      
        Delta: 2-12-17             Tangent: 5.29             
        Chord: 10.58                Course: N 48-17-54 E 
    Course In: S 42-48-15 E     Course Out: N 40-35-58 W 
    RP  North: 28480840.374          East : 610757.404       
    End North: 28481049.175          East : 610578.443       
Line  Course: N 49-24-02 E  Length: 73.10            
        North: 28481096.746          East : 610633.946       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 151.40           
        North: 28480988.754          East : 610740.058       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 83.50            
        North: 28480930.232          East : 610680.498       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 156.88           
        North: 28481042.133          East : 610570.546       
 
   Perimeter: 475.46   Area: 12,878 S.F. 0.296 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 39-36-13 E 
  Error North: -0.0033               East : 0.0028           
Precision  1: 118,865.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 8 
 
   North: 28481096.747        East : 610633.947       
Line  Course: N 49-24-02 E  Length: 82.19            
        North: 28481150.233          East : 610696.352       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 145.81           
        North: 28481046.228          East : 610798.545       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 82.00            
        North: 28480988.757          East : 610740.055       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 151.40           
        North: 28481096.749          East : 610633.944       
 
   Perimeter: 461.40   Area: 12,186 S.F. 0.280 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 45-22-28 W 
  Error North: 0.0027                East : -0.0027          
Precision  1: 115,350.00       
 
 
  



page 13 
 

Parcel name: LOT 9 
 
   North: 28481150.233        East : 610696.352       
Line  Course: N 49-24-02 E  Length: 64.29            
        North: 28481192.071          East : 610745.166       
Curve  Length: 21.90                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 80-57-32            Tangent: 13.23            
        Chord: 20.12                Course: N 89-52-48 E 
    Course In: S 40-35-58 E     Course Out: N 40-21-34 E 
    RP  North: 28481180.302          East : 610755.252       
    End North: 28481192.113          East : 610765.290       
Curve  Length: 80.70                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 84-50-35            Tangent: 49.80            
        Chord: 73.53                Course: N 87-56-16 E 
    Course In: N 40-21-34 E     Course Out: S 44-29-01 E 
    RP  North: 28481233.642          East : 610800.583       
    End North: 28481194.759          East : 610838.772       
Line  Course: S 44-29-48 E  Length: 77.75            
        North: 28481139.300          East : 610893.264       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 132.79           
        North: 28481046.232          East : 610798.546       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 145.81           
        North: 28481150.237          East : 610696.353       
 
   Perimeter: 523.24   Area: 16,042 S.F. 0.368 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 12-47-53 E 
  Error North: 0.0041                East : 0.0009           
Precision  1: 130,810.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 10 
 
        North: 28481194.756          East : 610838.768       
Curve  Length: 87.65                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 92-08-35            Tangent: 56.58            
        Chord: 78.50                Course: N 00-33-18 W 
    Course In: N 44-29-01 W     Course Out: N 43-22-24 E 
    RP  North: 28481233.639          East : 610800.580       
    End North: 28481273.254          East : 610838.007       
Line  Course: N 42-58-21 E  Length: 135.83           
        North: 28481372.639          East : 610930.596       
Line  Course: S 54-38-16 E  Length: 142.50           
        North: 28481290.168          East : 611046.806       
Line  Course: S 45-30-12 W  Length: 215.26           
        North: 28481139.299          East : 610893.263       
Line  Course: N 44-29-48 W  Length: 77.75            
        North: 28481194.757          East : 610838.770       
 
   Perimeter: 658.99   Area: 25,259 S.F. 0.580 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: N 51-41-54 E 
  Error North: 0.0017                East : 0.0021           
Precision  1: 219,663.33       
  



page 14 
 

Parcel name: LOT 11 
 
        North: 28481273.254          East : 610838.007       
Curve  Length: 79.88                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 83-58-22            Tangent: 49.05            
        Chord: 72.92                Course: N 88-36-47 W 
    Course In: S 43-22-24 W     Course Out: N 40-35-58 W 
    RP  North: 28481233.639          East : 610800.580       
    End North: 28481275.019          East : 610765.113       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 117.98           
        North: 28481366.860          East : 610691.055       
Line  Course: N 51-06-29 E  Length: 148.93           
        North: 28481460.366          East : 610806.972       
Line  Course: S 54-38-16 E  Length: 151.59           
        North: 28481372.635          East : 610930.595       
Line  Course: S 42-58-21 W  Length: 135.83           
        North: 28481273.250          East : 610838.007       
 
   Perimeter: 634.21   Area: 25,083 S.F. 0.576 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 06-49-08 W 
  Error North: -0.0040               East : -0.0005          
Precision  1: 158,552.50       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 12 
 
   North: 28481275.019        East : 610765.113       
Line  Course: S 49-24-02 W  Length: 76.53            
        North: 28481225.216          East : 610707.005       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 120.30           
        North: 28481318.863          East : 610631.491       
Line  Course: N 51-08-17 E  Length: 76.50            
        North: 28481366.863          East : 610691.059       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 117.98           
        North: 28481275.022          East : 610765.116       
 
   Perimeter: 391.32   Area: 9,115 S.F. 0.209 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 56-39-29 E 
  Error North: 0.0024                East : 0.0037           
Precision  1: 97,827.50        
 
 
  



page 15 
 

Parcel name: LOT 13 
 
   North: 28481225.213        East : 610707.002       
Line  Course: S 49-24-02 W  Length: 76.53            
        North: 28481175.410          East : 610648.894       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 122.60           
        North: 28481270.847          East : 610571.937       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 76.50            
        North: 28481318.867          East : 610631.488       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 120.30           
        North: 28481225.221          East : 610707.002       
 
   Perimeter: 395.94   Area: 9,291 S.F. 0.213 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: N 02-15-01 W 
  Error North: 0.0074                East : -0.0003          
Precision  1: 56,561.43        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 14 
 
   North: 28481175.407        East : 610648.891       
Line  Course: S 49-24-02 W  Length: 76.53            
        North: 28481125.604          East : 610590.784       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 124.89           
        North: 28481222.824          East : 610512.388       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 76.50            
        North: 28481270.844          East : 610571.939       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 122.60           
        North: 28481175.407          East : 610648.897       
 
   Perimeter: 400.53   Area: 9,467 S.F. 0.217 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.006                Course: S 85-54-03 E 
  Error North: -0.0004               East : 0.0060           
Precision  1: 66,753.33        
 
 
  



page 16 
 

Parcel name: LOT 15 
 
   North: 28481125.601        East : 610590.780       
Line  Course: S 49-24-02 W  Length: 59.10            
        North: 28481087.141          East : 610545.907       
Curve  Length: 17.45                Radius: 325.00      
        Delta: 3-04-37             Tangent: 8.73             
        Chord: 17.45                Course: S 47-51-44 W 
    Course In: S 40-35-58 E     Course Out: N 43-40-35 W 
    RP  North: 28480840.376          East : 610757.406       
    End North: 28481075.433          East : 610532.966       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 127.66           
        North: 28481174.809          East : 610452.832       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 76.50            
        North: 28481222.829          East : 610512.383       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 124.89           
        North: 28481125.609          East : 610590.778       
 
   Perimeter: 405.61   Area: 9,645 S.F. 0.221 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.008                Course: N 13-16-20 W 
  Error North: 0.0077                East : -0.0018          
Precision  1: 50,700.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 16 
 
        North: 28481075.430          East : 610532.964       
Curve  Length: 41.15                Radius: 325.00      
        Delta: 7-15-17             Tangent: 20.60            
        Chord: 41.12                Course: S 42-41-46 W 
    Course In: S 43-40-35 E     Course Out: N 50-55-52 W 
    RP  North: 28480840.374          East : 610757.403       
    End North: 28481045.206          East : 610505.077       
Line  Course: S 39-04-08 W  Length: 118.77           
        North: 28480952.994          East : 610430.222       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 190.30           
        North: 28481142.492          East : 610412.759       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 51.48            
        North: 28481174.806          East : 610452.833       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 127.66           
        North: 28481075.430          East : 610532.967       
 
   Perimeter: 529.36   Area: 13,918 S.F. 0.320 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 84-57-49 E 
  Error North: -0.0003               East : 0.0033           
Precision  1: 176,453.33       
 
 
  



page 17 
 

Parcel name: LOT 17 
 
   North: 28481001.463        East : 610317.294       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481011.374          East : 610424.838       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 58.63            
        North: 28480952.991          East : 610430.219       
Line  Course: S 39-04-08 W  Length: 80.91            
        North: 28480890.173          East : 610379.225       
Curve  Length: 37.14                Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 28-22-19            Tangent: 18.96            
        Chord: 36.76                Course: S 53-15-18 W 
    Course In: N 50-55-52 W     Course Out: S 22-33-33 E 
    RP  North: 28480937.443          East : 610320.996       
    End North: 28480868.181          East : 610349.768       
Curve  Length: 29.03                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 107-17-38           Tangent: 21.06            
        Chord: 24.97                Course: N 58-54-44 W 
    Course In: N 22-33-33 W     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28480882.495          East : 610343.822       
    End North: 28480881.073          East : 610328.387       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 120.90           
        North: 28481001.463          East : 610317.293       
 
   Perimeter: 434.60   Area: 11,651 S.F. 0.267 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: S 84-43-49 W 
  Error North: -0.0001               East : -0.0013          
Precision  1: 434,610.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 18 
 
   North: 28481084.113        East : 610309.677       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481094.023          East : 610417.221       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 83.00            
        North: 28481011.374          East : 610424.838       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481001.463          East : 610317.294       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 83.00            
        North: 28481084.113          East : 610309.677       
 
   Perimeter: 382.00   Area: 8,964 S.F. 0.206 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 382,000,000.00   
 
 
  



page 18 
 

Parcel name: LOT 19 
 
   North: 28481166.762        East : 610302.060       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481176.673          East : 610409.605       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 83.00            
        North: 28481094.023          East : 610417.221       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481084.113          East : 610309.677       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 83.00            
        North: 28481166.762          East : 610302.060       
 
   Perimeter: 382.00   Area: 8,964 S.F. 0.206 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 382,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 20 
 
   North: 28481166.762        East : 610302.060       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 69.50            
        North: 28481235.969          East : 610295.682       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28481237.391          East : 610311.117       
    End North: 28481252.826          East : 610309.695       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 39.16            
        North: 28481256.420          East : 610348.689       
Curve  Length: 55.11                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 25-15-30            Tangent: 28.01            
        Chord: 54.66                Course: N 72-06-20 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 30-31-25 E 
    RP  North: 28481380.892          East : 610337.219       
    End North: 28481273.215          East : 610400.705       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 96.95            
        North: 28481176.674          East : 610409.602       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481166.763          East : 610302.058       
 
   Perimeter: 393.07   Area: 9,337 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: N 75-57-44 W 
  Error North: 0.0006                East : -0.0025          
Precision  1: 131,023.33       
 
 
  



page 19 
 

Parcel name: LOT 21 
 
        North: 28481273.215          East : 610400.707       
Curve  Length: 18.23                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 8-21-29             Tangent: 9.13             
        Chord: 18.22                Course: N 55-17-50 E 
    Course In: N 30-31-25 W     Course Out: S 38-52-54 E 
    RP  North: 28481380.893          East : 610337.221       
    End North: 28481283.587          East : 610415.685       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 56.78            
        North: 28481319.229          East : 610459.885       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481235.157          East : 610527.678       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 147.63           
        North: 28481142.487          East : 610412.756       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 131.28           
        North: 28481273.213          East : 610400.709       
 
   Perimeter: 461.92   Area: 12,075 S.F. 0.277 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 47-07-56 E 
  Error North: -0.0017               East : 0.0019           
Precision  1: 153,973.33       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 22 
 
   North: 28481319.227        East : 610459.883       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 81.50            
        North: 28481370.386          East : 610523.326       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481286.314          East : 610591.119       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 81.50            
        North: 28481235.155          East : 610527.676       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481319.227          East : 610459.883       
 
   Perimeter: 379.00   Area: 8,802 S.F. 0.202 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 379,000,000.00   
 
 
  



page 20 
 

Parcel name: LOT 23 
 
   North: 28481370.386        East : 610523.326       
Line  Course: N 51-07-06 E  Length: 81.50            
        North: 28481421.545          East : 610586.769       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481337.473          East : 610654.562       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 81.50            
        North: 28481286.314          East : 610591.119       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481370.386          East : 610523.326       
 
   Perimeter: 379.00   Area: 8,802 S.F. 0.202 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 379,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 24 
 
        North: 28481421.545          East : 610586.769       
Curve  Length: 75.02                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 78-51-49            Tangent: 44.82            
        Chord: 69.23                Course: N 11-41-11 E 
    Course In: N 38-52-54 W     Course Out: N 62-15-17 E 
    RP  North: 28481463.970          East : 610552.559       
    End North: 28481489.342          East : 610600.793       
Line  Course: N 62-15-17 E  Length: 107.30           
        North: 28481539.295          East : 610695.756       
Line  Course: S 54-38-16 E  Length: 136.37           
        North: 28481460.371          East : 610806.967       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 195.78           
        North: 28481337.478          East : 610654.563       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481421.550          East : 610586.770       
 
   Perimeter: 622.47   Area: 23,703 S.F. 0.544 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 11-27-39 E 
  Error North: 0.0047                East : 0.0009           
Precision  1: 124,494.00       
 
 
  



page 21 
 

Parcel name: LOT 25 
 
        North: 28481489.342          East : 610600.793       
Curve  Length: 64.23                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 67-31-12            Tangent: 36.43            
        Chord: 60.57                Course: N 61-30-19 W 
    Course In: S 62-15-17 W     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28481463.970          East : 610552.559       
    End North: 28481518.240          East : 610547.557       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 131.53           
        North: 28481649.215          East : 610535.487       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 276.78           
        North: 28481674.614          East : 610811.099       
Curve  Length: 179.48               Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 27-03-41            Tangent: 91.45            
        Chord: 177.81               Course: S 40-26-36 W 
    Course In: N 63-05-15 W     Course Out: S 36-01-34 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.613          East : 610472.254       
    End North: 28481539.289          East : 610695.752       
Line  Course: S 62-15-17 W  Length: 107.30           
        North: 28481489.336          East : 610600.789       
 
   Perimeter: 759.32   Area: 30,594 S.F. 0.702 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: S 31-50-28 W 
  Error North: -0.0058               East : -0.0036          
Precision  1: 108,474.29       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 26 
 
        North: 28481518.240          East : 610547.557       
Curve  Length: 108.98               Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 114-34-31           Tangent: 84.85            
        Chord: 91.71                Course: S 27-26-49 W 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: S 60-09-34 W 
    RP  North: 28481463.970          East : 610552.559       
    End North: 28481436.851          East : 610505.284       
Line  Course: N 38-52-54 W  Length: 215.22           
        North: 28481604.388          East : 610370.188       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 29.47            
        North: 28481633.734          East : 610367.484       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 168.72           
        North: 28481649.217          East : 610535.492       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 131.53           
        North: 28481518.242          East : 610547.562       
 
   Perimeter: 653.93   Area: 21,002 S.F. 0.482 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 68-56-11 E 
  Error North: 0.0017                East : 0.0045           
Precision  1: 130,784.00       
 
 
  



page 22 
 

Parcel name: LOT 27 
 
        North: 28481436.851          East : 610505.285       
Curve  Length: 21.90                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 80-57-32            Tangent: 13.23            
        Chord: 20.12                Course: S 10-38-20 W 
    Course In: S 60-09-34 W     Course Out: S 38-52-54 E 
    RP  North: 28481429.139          East : 610491.840       
    End North: 28481417.073          East : 610501.569       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 136.46           
        North: 28481331.415          East : 610395.343       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 274.13           
        North: 28481604.388          East : 610370.187       
Line  Course: S 38-52-54 E  Length: 215.22           
        North: 28481436.852          East : 610505.283       
 
   Perimeter: 647.71   Area: 17,274 S.F. 0.397 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: N 80-15-50 W 
  Error North: 0.0002                East : -0.0013          
Precision  1: 647,710.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 28 
 
   North: 28481387.826        East : 610281.687       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481397.736          East : 610389.232       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 66.60            
        North: 28481331.417          East : 610395.343       
Line  Course: S 51-07-06 W  Length: 14.19            
        North: 28481322.510          East : 610384.297       
Curve  Length: 44.00                Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 33-36-59            Tangent: 22.66            
        Chord: 43.38                Course: S 67-55-35 W 
    Course In: N 38-52-54 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481380.893          East : 610337.219       
    End North: 28481306.210          East : 610344.101       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 39.16            
        North: 28481302.616          East : 610305.107       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 50-15-55 W 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28481318.051          East : 610303.684       
    End North: 28481316.629          East : 610288.250       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 71.50            
        North: 28481387.827          East : 610281.688       
 
   Perimeter: 367.80   Area: 8,982 S.F. 0.206 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.001                Course: N 30-07-32 E 
  Error North: 0.0013                East : 0.0007           
Precision  1: 367,800.00       
  



page 23 
 

Parcel name: LOT 29 
 
   North: 28481387.826        East : 610281.687       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481473.463          East : 610273.795       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481483.374          East : 610381.340       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481397.736          East : 610389.232       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481387.826          East : 610281.687       
 
   Perimeter: 388.00   Area: 9,288 S.F. 0.213 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 388,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 30 
 
   North: 28481473.463        East : 610273.795       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481559.100          East : 610265.903       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481569.011          East : 610373.448       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481483.374          East : 610381.340       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481473.463          East : 610273.795       
 
   Perimeter: 388.00   Area: 9,288 S.F. 0.213 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 388,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 31 
 
   North: 28481559.100        East : 610265.903       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481644.737          East : 610258.011       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481654.648          East : 610365.555       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.00            
        North: 28481569.011          East : 610373.447       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481559.100          East : 610265.903       
 
   Perimeter: 388.00   Area: 9,288 S.F. 0.213 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 388,000,000.00   
  



page 24 
 

Parcel name: LOT 32 
 
   North: 28481644.737        East : 610258.011       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 71.50            
        North: 28481715.935          East : 610251.450       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28481717.358          East : 610266.884       
    End North: 28481732.792          East : 610265.462       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 92.50            
        North: 28481741.281          East : 610357.572       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 87.00            
        North: 28481654.648          East : 610365.555       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481644.737          East : 610258.011       
 
   Perimeter: 383.35   Area: 9,344 S.F. 0.215 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 383,350,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 33 
 
   North: 28481741.281        East : 610357.571       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28481748.163          East : 610432.255       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481640.619          East : 610442.166       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28481633.737          East : 610367.482       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481741.281          East : 610357.571       
 
   Perimeter: 366.00   Area: 8,100 S.F. 0.186 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 366,000,000.00   
 
 
  



page 25 
 

Parcel name: LOT 34 
 
   North: 28481748.164        East : 610432.255       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28481755.046          East : 610506.938       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481647.502          East : 610516.849       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28481640.619          East : 610442.166       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481748.164          East : 610432.255       
 
   Perimeter: 366.00   Area: 8,100 S.F. 0.186 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 366,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 35 
 
   North: 28481755.046        East : 610506.938       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 47.17            
        North: 28481759.375          East : 610553.909       
Curve  Length: 23.78                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 10-54-06            Tangent: 11.93            
        Chord: 23.75                Course: N 79-17-02 E 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 16-10-01 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.847          East : 610542.438       
    End North: 28481763.791          East : 610577.243       
Line  Course: S 16-10-02 E  Length: 112.28           
        North: 28481655.951          East : 610608.506       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 92.05            
        North: 28481647.504          East : 610516.845       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481755.048          East : 610506.934       
 
   Perimeter: 383.29   Area: 8,836 S.F. 0.203 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 66-41-13 W 
  Error North: 0.0019                East : -0.0043          
Precision  1: 76,656.00        
 
 
  



page 26 
 

Parcel name: LOT 36 
 
        North: 28481763.791          East : 610577.247       
Curve  Length: 63.56                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 29-08-08            Tangent: 32.49            
        Chord: 62.88                Course: N 59-15-54 E 
    Course In: N 16-10-02 W     Course Out: S 45-18-10 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.848          East : 610542.442       
    End North: 28481795.928          East : 610631.296       
Line  Course: S 45-18-10 E  Length: 179.33           
        North: 28481669.794          East : 610758.770       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 150.89           
        North: 28481655.947          East : 610608.517       
Line  Course: N 16-10-02 W  Length: 112.28           
        North: 28481763.787          East : 610577.253       
 
   Perimeter: 506.07   Area: 13,606 S.F. 0.312 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: S 56-04-39 E 
  Error North: -0.0040               East : 0.0060           
Precision  1: 72,294.29        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 37 
 
        North: 28481795.928          East : 610631.296       
Curve  Length: 63.56                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 29-08-08            Tangent: 32.49            
        Chord: 62.88                Course: N 30-07-46 E 
    Course In: N 45-18-10 W     Course Out: S 74-26-18 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.848          East : 610542.442       
    End North: 28481850.313          East : 610662.860       
Line  Course: S 74-26-18 E  Length: 193.42           
        North: 28481798.424          East : 610849.190       
Curve  Length: 130.17               Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 19-37-34            Tangent: 65.73            
        Chord: 129.53               Course: S 17-05-58 W 
    Course In: N 82-42-49 W     Course Out: S 63-05-15 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.619          East : 610472.258       
    End North: 28481674.619          East : 610811.104       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 52.56            
        North: 28481669.796          East : 610758.766       
Line  Course: N 45-18-10 W  Length: 179.33           
        North: 28481795.930          East : 610631.292       
 
   Perimeter: 619.03   Area: 23,246 S.F. 0.534 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: N 66-25-17 W 
  Error North: 0.0020                East : -0.0046          
Precision  1: 123,808.00       
 
 
  



page 27 
 

Parcel name: LOT 38 
 
        North: 28481850.313          East : 610662.860       
Curve  Length: 45.79                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 20-59-13            Tangent: 23.15            
        Chord: 45.53                Course: N 05-04-05 E 
    Course In: N 74-26-18 W     Course Out: N 84-34-29 E 
    RP  North: 28481883.848          East : 610542.442       
    End North: 28481895.666          East : 610666.882       
Line  Course: N 05-25-31 W  Length: 21.09            
        North: 28481916.662          East : 610664.888       
Line  Course: N 84-34-29 E  Length: 178.10           
        North: 28481933.501          East : 610842.190       
Curve  Length: 135.98               Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 20-30-11            Tangent: 68.73            
        Chord: 135.26               Course: S 02-57-54 E 
    Course In: S 76-47-00 W     Course Out: S 82-42-49 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.620          East : 610472.256       
    End North: 28481798.425          East : 610849.187       
Line  Course: N 74-26-18 W  Length: 193.42           
        North: 28481850.315          East : 610662.857       
 
   Perimeter: 574.38   Area: 18,664 S.F. 0.428 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: N 65-55-44 W 
  Error North: 0.0012                East : -0.0026          
Precision  1: 191,460.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 39 
 
   North: 28481916.660        East : 610664.888       
Line  Course: N 05-25-31 W  Length: 44.29            
        North: 28481960.752          East : 610660.701       
Curve  Length: 26.19                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 12-00-13            Tangent: 13.14            
        Chord: 26.14                Course: N 11-25-37 W 
    Course In: S 84-34-29 W     Course Out: N 72-34-16 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.933          East : 610536.261       
    End North: 28481986.373          East : 610655.522       
Line  Course: N 72-34-16 E  Length: 155.10           
        North: 28482032.829          East : 610803.501       
Curve  Length: 106.95               Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 16-07-35            Tangent: 53.83            
        Chord: 106.60               Course: S 21-16-47 E 
    Course In: S 60-39-25 W     Course Out: N 76-47-00 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.615          East : 610472.255       
    End North: 28481933.496          East : 610842.189       
Line  Course: S 84-34-29 W  Length: 178.10           
        North: 28481916.657          East : 610664.887       
 
   Perimeter: 510.64   Area: 14,703 S.F. 0.338 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 18-50-51 W 
  Error North: -0.0030               East : -0.0010          
Precision  1: 170,210.00       
 
  



page 28 
 

Parcel name: LOT 40 
 
        North: 28481986.376          East : 610655.522       
Curve  Length: 63.56                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 29-08-08            Tangent: 32.49            
        Chord: 62.88                Course: N 31-59-48 W 
    Course In: S 72-34-16 W     Course Out: N 43-26-08 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.936          East : 610536.260       
    End North: 28482039.705          East : 610622.203       
Line  Course: N 43-26-08 E  Length: 250.86           
        North: 28482221.866          East : 610794.679       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 125.43           
        North: 28482220.978          East : 610920.105       
Line  Course: S 42-32-34 W  Length: 206.48           
        North: 28482068.849          East : 610780.496       
Curve  Length: 42.76                Radius: 380.00      
        Delta: 6-26-51             Tangent: 21.40            
        Chord: 42.74                Course: S 32-34-00 E 
    Course In: S 54-12-34 W     Course Out: N 60-39-25 E 
    RP  North: 28481846.616          East : 610472.255       
    End North: 28482032.831          East : 610803.502       
Line  Course: S 72-34-16 W  Length: 155.10           
        North: 28481986.375          East : 610655.522       
 
   Perimeter: 844.20   Area: 29,261 S.F. 0.672 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.002                Course: S 23-28-45 E 
  Error North: -0.0015               East : 0.0007           
Precision  1: 422,095.00       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 41 
 
        North: 28482039.705          East : 610622.203       
Curve  Length: 63.56                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 29-08-08            Tangent: 32.49            
        Chord: 62.88                Course: N 61-07-56 W 
    Course In: S 43-26-08 W     Course Out: N 14-18-00 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.936          East : 610536.260       
    End North: 28482070.063          East : 610567.135       
Line  Course: N 14-18-00 E  Length: 158.03           
        North: 28482223.197          East : 610606.169       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 188.51           
        North: 28482221.862          East : 610794.674       
Line  Course: S 43-26-08 W  Length: 250.86           
        North: 28482039.701          East : 610622.198       
 
   Perimeter: 660.97   Area: 21,925 S.F. 0.503 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.006                Course: S 50-54-39 W 
  Error North: -0.0038               East : -0.0047          
Precision  1: 110,160.00       
 
 
  



page 29 
 

Parcel name: LOT 42 
 
   North: 28482078.828        East : 610495.734       
Line  Course: N 05-56-26 E  Length: 145.83           
        North: 28482223.875          East : 610510.827       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 95.34            
        North: 28482223.200          East : 610606.164       
Line  Course: S 14-18-00 W  Length: 158.03           
        North: 28482070.067          East : 610567.131       
Curve  Length: 18.24                Radius: 125.00      
        Delta: 8-21-34             Tangent: 9.13             
        Chord: 18.22                Course: N 79-52-47 W 
    Course In: S 14-18-00 W     Course Out: N 05-56-26 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.940          East : 610536.256       
    End North: 28482073.268          East : 610549.193       
Line  Course: N 84-03-34 W  Length: 53.75            
        North: 28482078.831          East : 610495.732       
 
   Perimeter: 471.20   Area: 12,518 S.F. 0.287 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 30-46-48 W 
  Error North: 0.0032                East : -0.0019          
Precision  1: 117,797.50       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 43 
 
   North: 28482086.591        East : 610421.137       
Line  Course: N 05-56-26 E  Length: 138.56           
        North: 28482224.406          East : 610435.477       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 75.35            
        North: 28482223.873          East : 610510.825       
Line  Course: S 05-56-26 W  Length: 145.83           
        North: 28482078.826          East : 610495.732       
Line  Course: N 84-03-34 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28482086.588          East : 610421.135       
 
   Perimeter: 434.74   Area: 10,665 S.F. 0.245 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 36-51-47 W 
  Error North: -0.0021               East : -0.0015          
Precision  1: 144,913.33       
 
 
  



page 30 
 

Parcel name: LOT 44 
 
   North: 28482094.353        East : 610346.539       
Line  Course: N 05-56-26 E  Length: 131.29           
        North: 28482224.938          East : 610360.128       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 75.35            
        North: 28482224.404          East : 610435.476       
Line  Course: S 05-56-26 W  Length: 138.56           
        North: 28482086.589          East : 610421.135       
Line  Course: N 84-03-34 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28482094.351          East : 610346.538       
 
   Perimeter: 420.21   Area: 10,120 S.F. 0.232 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 36-51-47 W 
  Error North: -0.0021               East : -0.0015          
Precision  1: 140,066.67       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 45 
 
   North: 28482101.673        East : 610271.896       
Line  Course: N 05-56-26 E  Length: 124.47           
        North: 28482225.475          East : 610284.778       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 75.35            
        North: 28482224.941          East : 610360.127       
Line  Course: S 05-56-26 W  Length: 131.29           
        North: 28482094.357          East : 610346.539       
Line  Course: N 84-03-34 W  Length: 53.41            
        North: 28482099.884          East : 610293.415       
Curve  Length: 21.60                Radius: 525.00      
        Delta: 2-21-26             Tangent: 10.80            
        Chord: 21.60                Course: N 85-14-17 W 
    Course In: S 05-56-26 W     Course Out: N 03-35-00 E 
    RP  North: 28481577.704          East : 610239.080       
    End North: 28482101.677          East : 610271.892       
 
   Perimeter: 406.12   Area: 9,578 S.F. 0.220 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.006                Course: N 45-13-43 W 
  Error North: 0.0040                East : -0.0040          
Precision  1: 67,686.67        
 
 
  



page 31 
 

Parcel name: LOT 46 
 
   North: 28482115.882        East : 610202.804       
Line  Course: N 07-05-30 W  Length: 111.12           
        North: 28482226.152          East : 610189.086       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 95.70            
        North: 28482225.474          East : 610284.784       
Line  Course: S 05-56-26 W  Length: 124.47           
        North: 28482101.673          East : 610271.901       
Curve  Length: 21.09                Radius: 525.00      
        Delta: 2-18-05             Tangent: 10.55            
        Chord: 21.09                Course: N 87-34-02 W 
    Course In: S 03-35-00 W     Course Out: N 01-16-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481577.699          East : 610239.089       
    End North: 28482102.568          East : 610250.834       
Curve  Length: 9.53                 Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 35-13-26            Tangent: 4.92             
        Chord: 9.38                 Course: N 71-06-22 W 
    Course In: N 01-16-55 E     Course Out: S 36-30-21 W 
    RP  North: 28482118.064          East : 610251.181       
    End North: 28482105.605          East : 610241.960       
Curve  Length: 41.47                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 43-35-51            Tangent: 21.80            
        Chord: 40.48                Course: N 75-17-35 W 
    Course In: S 36-30-21 W     Course Out: N 07-05-30 W 
    RP  North: 28482061.798          East : 610209.538       
    End North: 28482115.881          East : 610202.809       
 
   Perimeter: 403.37   Area: 9,642 S.F. 0.221 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.005                Course: S 82-51-12 E 
  Error North: -0.0006               East : 0.0047           
Precision  1: 80,676.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 47 
 
        North: 28482115.882          East : 610202.804       
Curve  Length: 51.62                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 54-16-08            Tangent: 27.93            
        Chord: 49.71                Course: S 55-46-26 W 
    Course In: S 07-05-30 E     Course Out: N 61-21-38 W 
    RP  North: 28482061.799          East : 610209.533       
    End North: 28482087.920          East : 610161.701       
Line  Course: N 61-21-38 W  Length: 144.78           
        North: 28482157.313          East : 610034.634       
Line  Course: N 37-05-21 E  Length: 87.20            
        North: 28482226.872          East : 610087.221       
Line  Course: S 89-35-40 E  Length: 101.87           
        North: 28482226.151          East : 610189.088       
Line  Course: S 07-05-30 E  Length: 111.12           
        North: 28482115.881          East : 610202.807       
 
   Perimeter: 496.59   Area: 15,551 S.F. 0.357 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.002                Course: S 74-10-27 E 
  Error North: -0.0006               East : 0.0023           
Precision  1: 248,295.00        



page 32 
 

Parcel name: LOT 48 
 
        North: 28482087.920          East : 610161.701       
Curve  Length: 59.42                Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 62-27-56            Tangent: 33.05            
        Chord: 56.52                Course: S 02-35-36 E 
    Course In: S 61-21-38 E     Course Out: S 56-10-26 W 
    RP  North: 28482061.799          East : 610209.533       
    End North: 28482031.460          East : 610164.258       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 184.25           
        North: 28482014.552          East : 609980.785       
Curve  Length: 44.32                Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 4-37-03             Tangent: 22.17            
        Chord: 44.31                Course: N 39-40-52 W 
    Course In: S 52-37-40 W     Course Out: N 48-00-37 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.707          East : 609543.695       
    End North: 28482048.655          East : 609952.491       
Line  Course: N 37-05-21 E  Length: 136.21           
        North: 28482157.310          East : 610034.634       
Line  Course: S 61-21-38 E  Length: 144.78           
        North: 28482087.917          East : 610161.700       
 
   Perimeter: 568.98   Area: 18,762 S.F. 0.431 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.003                Course: S 10-12-39 W 
  Error North: -0.0029               East : -0.0005          
Precision  1: 189,660.00       
 
 
  



page 33 
 

Parcel name: LOT 49 
 
        North: 28482031.460          East : 610164.258       
Curve  Length: 8.55                 Radius: 54.50       
        Delta: 8-59-10             Tangent: 4.28             
        Chord: 8.54                 Course: S 38-19-09 E 
    Course In: N 56-10-26 E     Course Out: S 47-11-16 W 
    RP  North: 28482061.799          East : 610209.533       
    End North: 28482024.760          East : 610169.553       
Curve  Length: 10.16                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 37-32-49            Tangent: 5.27             
        Chord: 9.98                 Course: S 24-02-19 E 
    Course In: S 47-11-16 W     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28482014.227          East : 610158.182       
    End North: 28482015.649          East : 610173.617       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 67.09            
        North: 28481948.842          East : 610179.773       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 149.11           
        North: 28481935.159          East : 610031.292       
Curve  Length: 94.21                Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 9-48-53             Tangent: 47.22            
        Chord: 94.10                Course: N 32-27-53 W 
    Course In: S 62-26-33 W     Course Out: N 52-37-40 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.708          East : 609543.692       
    End North: 28482014.552          East : 609980.782       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 184.25           
        North: 28482031.461          East : 610164.254       
 
   Perimeter: 513.37   Area: 14,103 S.F. 0.324 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 79-56-11 W 
  Error North: 0.0007                East : -0.0040          
Precision  1: 128,342.50       
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 50 
 
   North: 28481948.840        East : 610179.773       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 83.00            
        North: 28481866.191          East : 610187.390       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 122.54           
        North: 28481854.945          East : 610065.367       
Curve  Length: 87.24                Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 9-05-17             Tangent: 43.71            
        Chord: 87.15                Course: N 23-00-48 W 
    Course In: S 71-31-50 W     Course Out: N 62-26-33 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.706          East : 609543.696       
    End North: 28481935.157          East : 610031.297       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 149.11           
        North: 28481948.841          East : 610179.778       
 
   Perimeter: 441.88   Area: 11,173 S.F. 0.256 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 86-09-56 E 
  Error North: 0.0003                East : 0.0044           
Precision  1: 110,472.50       
 
  



page 34 
 

Parcel name: LOT 51 
 
   North: 28481866.191        East : 610187.390       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 74.50            
        North: 28481792.005          East : 610194.227       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28481790.582          East : 610178.792       
    End North: 28481775.148          East : 610180.215       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 79.32            
        North: 28481767.869          East : 610101.229       
Curve  Length: 22.94                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 84-48-44            Tangent: 14.16            
        Chord: 20.91                Course: N 52-51-33 W 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 79-32-49 W 
    RP  North: 28481783.304          East : 610099.807       
    End North: 28481780.491          East : 610084.564       
Curve  Length: 76.95                Radius: 550.00      
        Delta: 8-00-59             Tangent: 38.54            
        Chord: 76.89                Course: N 14-27-40 W 
    Course In: S 79-32-49 W     Course Out: N 71-31-50 E 
    RP  North: 28481680.705          East : 609543.692       
    End North: 28481854.944          East : 610065.363       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 122.54           
        North: 28481866.189          East : 610187.386       
 
   Perimeter: 400.60   Area: 10,218 S.F. 0.235 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 75-51-24 W 
  Error North: -0.0011               East : -0.0042          
Precision  1: 100,150.00       
 
 
  



page 35 
 

Parcel name: LOT 52 
 
   North: 28481637.161        East : 610208.497       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481627.250          East : 610100.953       
Line  Course: N 05-15-56 W  Length: 74.50            
        North: 28481701.436          East : 610094.116       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 39-44-05 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: N 05-15-55 W 
    RP  North: 28481702.858          East : 610109.551       
    End North: 28481718.293          East : 610108.128       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 77.00            
        North: 28481725.359          East : 610184.803       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 50-15-55 E 
    Course In: S 05-15-55 E     Course Out: N 84-44-05 E 
    RP  North: 28481709.924          East : 610186.226       
    End North: 28481711.347          East : 610201.660       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 74.50            
        North: 28481637.161          East : 610208.497       
 
   Perimeter: 382.69   Area: 9,617 S.F. 0.221 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 84-44-06 W 
  Error North: -0.0000               East : -0.0004          
Precision  1: 382,700,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 53 
 
   North: 28481637.161        East : 610208.497       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481551.026          East : 610216.435       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481541.115          East : 610108.891       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481627.250          East : 610100.953       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481637.161          East : 610208.497       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
 
  



page 36 
 

Parcel name: LOT 54 
 
   North: 28481551.026        East : 610216.435       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481464.891          East : 610224.373       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481454.980          East : 610116.829       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481541.115          East : 610108.891       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481551.026          East : 610216.435       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 55 
 
   North: 28481464.891        East : 610224.373       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481378.756          East : 610232.311       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481368.845          East : 610124.767       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481454.980          East : 610116.829       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481464.891          East : 610224.373       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 56 
 
   North: 28481378.756        East : 610232.311       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481292.621          East : 610240.249       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481282.710          East : 610132.705       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481368.845          East : 610124.767       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481378.756          East : 610232.311       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
  



page 37 
 

Parcel name: LOT 57 
 
   North: 28481292.621        East : 610240.249       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481206.486          East : 610248.187       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481196.575          East : 610140.643       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481282.710          East : 610132.705       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481292.621          East : 610240.249       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 58 
 
   North: 28481206.486        East : 610248.188       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481120.351          East : 610256.125       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481110.440          East : 610148.581       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481196.575          East : 610140.643       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481206.486          East : 610248.188       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 59 
 
   North: 28481120.351        East : 610256.126       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481034.216          East : 610264.063       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481024.305          East : 610156.519       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481110.440          East : 610148.581       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481120.351          East : 610256.126       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
  



page 38 
 

Parcel name: LOT 60 
 
   North: 28481034.216        East : 610264.064       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28480948.081          East : 610272.001       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28480938.170          East : 610164.457       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 86.50            
        North: 28481024.305          East : 610156.519       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481034.216          East : 610264.064       
 
   Perimeter: 389.00   Area: 9,342 S.F. 0.214 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 389,000,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 61 
 
   North: 28480948.081        East : 610272.002       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 74.59            
        North: 28480873.806          East : 610278.847       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: S 39-44-05 W 
    Course In: S 84-44-05 W     Course Out: S 05-15-55 E 
    RP  North: 28480872.383          East : 610263.412       
    End North: 28480856.949          East : 610264.834       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 77.00            
        North: 28480849.883          East : 610188.159       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 50-15-55 W 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28480865.317          East : 610186.737       
    End North: 28480863.895          East : 610171.302       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 74.59            
        North: 28480938.170          East : 610164.457       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28480948.081          East : 610272.002       
 
   Perimeter: 382.87   Area: 9,626 S.F. 0.221 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 382,880,000.00   
 
 
  



page 39 
 

Parcel name: LOT 62 
 
   North: 28481868.290        East : 610237.409       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481878.200          East : 610344.953       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 87.50            
        North: 28481791.070          East : 610352.983       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 92.50            
        North: 28481782.581          East : 610260.873       
Curve  Length: 24.35                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 90-00-00            Tangent: 15.50            
        Chord: 21.92                Course: N 50-15-55 W 
    Course In: N 05-15-55 W     Course Out: S 84-44-05 W 
    RP  North: 28481798.016          East : 610259.451       
    End North: 28481796.593          East : 610244.016       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 72.00            
        North: 28481868.290          East : 610237.409       
 
   Perimeter: 384.35   Area: 9,398 S.F. 0.216 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 384,350,000.00   
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 63 
 
   North: 28481868.290        East : 610237.409       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 80.00            
        North: 28481947.952          East : 610230.067       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481957.863          East : 610337.612       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 80.00            
        North: 28481878.200          East : 610344.953       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481868.290          East : 610237.409       
 
   Perimeter: 376.00   Area: 8,640 S.F. 0.198 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.000                Course: S 90-00-00 E 
  Error North: 0.0000                East : 0.0000           
Precision  1: 376,000,000.00   
 
 
  



page 40 
 

Parcel name: LOT 64 
 
   North: 28481947.952        East : 610230.067       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 88.19            
        North: 28482035.770          East : 610221.974       
Curve  Length: 25.72                Radius: 15.50       
        Delta: 95-03-23            Tangent: 16.93            
        Chord: 22.87                Course: N 42-15-46 E 
    Course In: N 84-44-05 E     Course Out: N 00-12-32 W 
    RP  North: 28482037.192          East : 610237.409       
    End North: 28482052.692          East : 610237.352       
Curve  Length: 50.98                Radius: 475.00      
        Delta: 6-08-58             Tangent: 25.51            
        Chord: 50.96                Course: S 87-08-03 E 
    Course In: S 00-12-32 E     Course Out: N 05-56-26 E 
    RP  North: 28481577.695          East : 610239.084       
    End North: 28482050.144          East : 610288.245       
Line  Course: S 84-03-34 E  Length: 41.48            
        North: 28482045.851          East : 610329.502       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 88.37            
        North: 28481957.854          East : 610337.612       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 108.00           
        North: 28481947.943          East : 610230.067       
 
   Perimeter: 402.74   Area: 10,526 S.F. 0.242 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.009                Course: S 01-15-41 E 
  Error North: -0.0085               East : 0.0002           
Precision  1: 44,748.89        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 65 
 
   North: 28482045.856        East : 610329.502       
Line  Course: S 84-03-34 E  Length: 81.55            
        North: 28482037.416          East : 610410.614       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 121.88           
        North: 28481916.050          East : 610421.799       
Line  Course: S 87-53-15 W  Length: 80.12            
        North: 28481913.096          East : 610341.733       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 133.33           
        North: 28482045.864          East : 610329.498       
 
   Perimeter: 416.89   Area: 10,208 S.F. 0.234 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.009                Course: N 27-18-07 W 
  Error North: 0.0082                East : -0.0042          
Precision  1: 46,320.00        
 
 
  



page 41 
 

Parcel name: LOT 66 
 
   North: 28482037.415        East : 610410.619       
Line  Course: S 84-03-34 E  Length: 76.46            
        North: 28482029.502          East : 610486.668       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 111.16           
        North: 28481918.811          East : 610496.869       
Line  Course: S 87-53-15 W  Length: 75.11            
        North: 28481916.042          East : 610421.810       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 121.88           
        North: 28482037.408          East : 610410.626       
 
   Perimeter: 384.61   Area: 8,739 S.F. 0.201 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.010                Course: S 42-40-04 E 
  Error North: -0.0073               East : 0.0067           
Precision  1: 38,461.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 67 
 
   North: 28482029.502        East : 610486.666       
Line  Course: S 84-03-34 E  Length: 57.67            
        North: 28482023.533          East : 610544.026       
Curve  Length: 102.93               Radius: 75.00       
        Delta: 78-38-03            Tangent: 61.42            
        Chord: 95.04                Course: S 44-44-33 E 
    Course In: S 05-56-26 W     Course Out: N 84-34-29 E 
    RP  North: 28481948.936          East : 610536.264       
    End North: 28481956.027          East : 610610.928       
Line  Course: S 05-25-31 E  Length: 26.59            
        North: 28481929.556          East : 610613.442       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 117.07           
        North: 28481918.813          East : 610496.866       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 111.16           
        North: 28482029.504          East : 610486.665       
 
   Perimeter: 415.41   Area: 10,898 S.F. 0.250 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.002                Course: N 20-01-55 W 
  Error North: 0.0021                East : -0.0008          
Precision  1: 207,710.00       
 
 
  



page 42 
 

Parcel name: LOT 68 
 
   North: 28481805.294        East : 610507.329       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 114.00           
        North: 28481918.813          East : 610496.867       
Line  Course: N 84-44-05 E  Length: 117.07           
        North: 28481929.556          East : 610613.443       
Line  Course: S 40-29-41 W  Length: 163.40           
        North: 28481805.296          East : 610507.335       
 
   Perimeter: 394.47   Area: 6,673 S.F. 0.153 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.007                Course: N 71-44-26 E 
  Error North: 0.0020                East : 0.0062           
Precision  1: 56,352.86        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 69 
 
   North: 28481805.294        East : 610507.329       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 75.00            
        North: 28481798.412          East : 610432.645       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 118.13           
        North: 28481916.043          East : 610421.805       
Line  Course: N 87-53-15 E  Length: 75.11            
        North: 28481918.812          East : 610496.864       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 114.00           
        North: 28481805.293          East : 610507.325       
 
   Perimeter: 382.25   Area: 8,705 S.F. 0.200 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: S 70-21-48 W 
  Error North: -0.0013               East : -0.0036          
Precision  1: 95,560.00        
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Parcel name: LOT 70 
 
   North: 28481798.411        East : 610432.645       
Line  Course: S 84-44-05 W  Length: 80.00            
        North: 28481791.070          East : 610352.983       
Line  Course: N 05-15-55 W  Length: 122.54           
        North: 28481913.093          East : 610341.738       
Line  Course: N 87-53-15 E  Length: 80.12            
        North: 28481916.046          East : 610421.803       
Line  Course: S 05-15-55 E  Length: 118.13           
        North: 28481798.415          East : 610432.644       
 
   Perimeter: 400.79   Area: 9,627 S.F. 0.221 ACRES 
 
Mapcheck Closure - (Uses listed courses, radii, and deltas) 
Error Closure: 0.004                Course: N 25-05-52 W 
  Error North: 0.0034                East : -0.0016          
Precision  1: 100,197.50       
 
 











Agenda Item # I.A.2.  

Created on 1/19/2021  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Review, consideration and possible recommendation to City Council for Rezone No. 

6-20, filed by Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC, for a change in zoning from R 

(Single Family and Multiple Family Residential) and R1 (Single Family Residential) 

to R (Single Family and Multiple Family Residential) Zoning District, 

approximately 26.607 acres of property, to allow for residential development, and 

matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date:  February 2, 2021 

 

3. Agenda Category: PUBLIC HEARINGS, NEW BUSINESS  

 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information:  Subject property is located on the east side of E Jennings 

Way generally north of the intersection with Khoury Lane.  (APN 001-562-010). The 

parcel currently has two zone districts.  
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application, Staff Memo  

 

8. Recommended Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Council to adopt a 

resolution which approves Rezone No. 6-20 based on facts and findings as presented 

in Staff Report dated January 12, 2021. 
 

9. Findings: See Staff Report dated January 12, 2021 

 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

11. Agenda Distribution:  Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC 

Attn: Scott MacRitchie 

312 Four Mile Trail 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

High Desert Engineering 

Attn: Tom Ballew 

640 Idaho Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

 

 





Page 1 of 4

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT

MEMO DATE: January 12, 2021
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: February 2, 2021
APPLICATION NUMBER: REZONE 6-20
APPLICANT: Jordanelle Third Mortgage, LLC.
PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

A rezone from (R1) Single Family Residential and (R) Single Family and Multiple Family
Residential to (R) Single Family and Multiple Family Residential

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

RECOMMEND APPROVAL subject to findings of fact, and conditions as stated in this report.

City of Elko
1751 College Avenue

Elko, NV  89801
(775) 777-7160

FAX (775) 777-7119



REZONE 6-20
Jordanelle Third Mortgage LLC.

Page 2 of 4

PROJECT INFORMATION

PARCEL NUMBER: 001-562-010

PARCEL SIZE: 25.109 acres

EXISTING ZONING: R1 Single Family Residential and R Single Family
and Multiple Family Residential

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: (RES- HD) Residential High Density and (RES-
MD) Residential Medium Density

EXISTING LAND USE: Undeveloped

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS:
 The property is surrounded by:

 North: Residential / Undeveloped
 West: Residential / Partially developed
 South: Commercial / Developed
 East: Industrial Commercial / Developed

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS:
 The area is currently undeveloped.
 The area has moderate sloping.
 The area is accessed from East Jennings Way

MASTER PLAN AND CITY CODE SECTIONS:

Applicable Master Plans and City Code Sections are:

 City of Elko Master Plan – Land Use Component
 City of Elko Master Plan – Transportation Component
 City of Wellhead Protection Plan
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-5 Residential Zoning Districts
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-2-21  Amendments
 City of Elko Zoning – Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management

BACKGROUND:

1. The parcel is identified as APN 001-562-010.
2. The applicant is the property owner. They purchased the property on October 19, 2020.
3. The property is east of East Jennings Way extended north of Puccinelli Parkway.
4. The area of the parcel is approximately 25.109 acres.
5. The applicant has applied for a Tentative Map (TM 12-20) for Zephyr Heights

Subdivision which is proposing 70 single family residential lots.



REZONE 6-20
Jordanelle Third Mortgage LLC.

Page 3 of 4

MASTER PLAN:

Land use:

1. Master Plan Land Use is shown as High Density Residential and Medium Density
Residential.

2. R- Single Family and Multiple Family Residential zoning district is listed as a
corresponding zoning district for Residential Medium Density and Residential High
Density.

3. Objective 1: Promote a diverse mix of housing options to meet the needs of a variety of
lifestyles, incomes, and age groups.

4. Objective 8: Encourage new development that does not negatively impact County-wide
natural systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages,
floodplains etc., or pose a danger to human health and safety.

The proposed zone district is in conformance with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan.

Transportation:

1. The area will be accessed from East Jennings Way.
2. East Jennings Way is classified in the Transportation Component as a minor arterial with

classification as a major arterial once the roadway in connected between west and east.
3. The extension of East Jennings Way as well as pedestrian access will be required as part

of the subdivision development.

The proposed zone district is compatible with the Transportation Component of the Master Plan
and will be consistent with the future transportation infrastructure.

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN:

1. The property sits inside the 20 year capture zone for the City of Elko wells.

The proposed zone district and proposed use for the property is in conformance with wellhead
protection plan.

SECTION 3-2-4 Establishment of Zoning Districts:

1. No building, structure or land shall hereafter be used or occupied and no building or
structure or part thereof shall hereafter be erected, constructed, moved, or structurally
altered, unless in conformity with all regulations specified in this subsection for the
district in which it is located.

2. No building or other structure shall hereafter be erected or altered:
a. To exceed the heights required by the current City Airport Master Plan;
b. To accommodate or house a greater number of families than as permitted in this
chapter;
c. To occupy a greater percentage of lot area; or
d. To have narrower or smaller rear yards, front yards, side yards or other open spaces,
than required in this title; or in any other manner contrary to the provisions of this
chapter.

3. No part of a required yard, or other open space, or off street parking or loading space,



REZONE 6-20
Jordanelle Third Mortgage LLC.

Page 4 of 4

provided in connection with any building or use, shall be included as part of a yard, open
space, or off street parking or loading space similarly required for any other building.

4. No yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof shall be reduced in dimension or area
below the minimum requirements set forth in this title. The property meets the area
requirements for the proposed zone district.

The proposed zone district is in conformance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-4(B).

SECTION 3-2-5(E) R- Single Family and Multiple Family Residential District:

1. As the property develops, it will be required to be in conformance with all aspects of
Elko City Code 3-2-5(E)

SECTION 3-2-21:

The application is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-21 with the filing of this application.

SECTION 3-8:

The proposed zone district is not located in a designated Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA).

FINDINGS:

1. The proposed zone district is in conformance with the Land Use Component of the
Master Plan.

2. The proposed zone district is compatible with the Transportation Component of the
Master Plan and is consistent with the future transportation infrastructure.

3. The proposed zone district and resultant land use is in conformance with City Wellhead
Protection Plan.

4. The proposed zone district is in conformance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-4(B).

5. The proposed zone district is in conformance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-5.

6. The application is in conformance with Elko City Code 3-2-21.

7. The proposed zone district is not located in a designated Special Flood Hazard Area
(SFHA).

8. Development under the proposed zone district will not adversely impact natural systems,
or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc., or pose a
danger to human health and safety.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends this item be APPROVED





























Agenda Item # I.B.1. 

Created on 01/20/21  Planning Commission Action Sheet 

Elko City Planning Commission 
Agenda Action Sheet 

 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action on the 2020 Annual Report of 

Planning Commission activities. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

 

2. Meeting Date: February 2, 2021 

 

3. Agenda Category: MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS, PETITIONS, AND COMMUNICATIONS 

 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

 

5. Background Information: Pursuant to City Code Section 3-4-23, the Planning 

Commission is required to prepare and present an annual report of its activities to 

the City Council. 
 

6. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

 

7. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

 

8. Recommended Motion: Move to approve the 2020 Annual Report of Planning 

Commission Activities as presented, and forward a recommendation to City Council 

to approve the report. 

 

9. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

 

10. Agenda Distribution:  





City of Elko
Planning Commission
2020 Annual Report

Chairman Jeff Dalling
Vice-Chairman Evi Buell
Secretary Tera Hooiman

Commissioner John Anderson
Commissioner Gratton Miller

Commissioner Stefan Beck
Commissioner Giovanni Puccinelli



APPLICATIONS
PROCESSED

Application 2020 2019 2018
Annexations 0 1* 1

Boundary Line Adjustments (admin.) 5 6 0

Conditional Use Permits 4 13* 7*

Appeals (City Council) 1 1 0

Curb, Gutter, Sidewalk Waivers 0 (C.C.) 2 (C.C.) 2 (C.C)

Detachments 0 1* 0

Home Occupation Permits (admin.) 31 42 53*

Land Sales/Leases/Acquisitions (C.C.) 5 1 0

Parcel Maps (mostly administrative) 9 9 10

Parking Waivers 0 0 2

Reversions to Acreage (City Council) 0 0 1

Revocable Permits (mostly City Council) 4 1 5

Rezones 6 5 8

Site Plan Reviews 0 0 2

Subdivisions

Pre-Applications, Stage 1 3 7 4

Tentative Maps 3 5 3

Final Maps 6 4 7

Temporary Sign Clearances (admin.) 2 4 2

Temporary Use Permits 1 1 2*

Vacations 4* 12* 4

Variances 4 4 13*

Appeals (City Council) 0 0 1

* see next page TOTAL 88 119 127

A summary of the tasks and accomplishments of the City
of Elko Planning Commission for the 2020 calendar year:



APPLICATIONS
PROCESSED Cont.

Application
Annexations 1 – 2019 Annexation application

withdrawn by applicant

Conditional Use Permits 1 – 2018 Conditional Use Permit Transfer
from 2003

1 – 2018 Conditional Use Permit Transfer
from 1986

1 – 2019 Conditional Use Permit Transfer
from 1995

Detachments 1 – 2019 Detachment application
withdrawn by applicant

Home Occupation Permits (admin.) 1 – 2018 application withdrawn

Temporary Use Permits 1 – 2018 application withdrawn

Vacations 8 – 2019 applications for the City of Elko
NO CHARGE

1 – 2020 application pending

Variances 1 – 2018 application refunded



INTERACTION WITH and SUPPORT OF
the

REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY
and the

REDEVELOPMENT ADVISORY COUNCIL

 Analyzed applications within the Redevelopment
Area for general conformance with the
Redevelopment Plan.

 Cathy Laughlin, as Redevelopment Manager, keeps
the Planning Commission informed of
redevelopment happenings in her monthly reports.
In addition, Commissioner Dalling is a member of
the Redevelopment Advisory Council.



 Zoning revisions or clarification on properties
throughout the City of Elko. (Ongoing)

 Review zoning for the RMH districts, revise map. (In
progress)

 Master Plan Amendment No. 1-20 – Amend Atlas
Map 8, Land Use Component, Transportation
Component, & Atlas Maps 11 & 12

 Master Plan Amendment No. 2-20 – Amend Atlas
Map 8 on S 5th Street & Amend Land Use Component
by adding RO District to Downtown Mixed Use

 Master Plan Amendment No. 3-20 – Amend Atlas
Map 8 on 6 parcels near W. Cedar & D Street, 1
parcel on Front Street, & 1 parcel on Ruby Vista &
College Parkway.

CITY OF ELKO
MASTER PLAN and other

PROJECT PLANS



PLANNING DEPARTMENT
FILING FEES COLLECTED

TOTAL FEES COLLECTED FOR 2020
$26,200

2019 - $35,950 (difference of -$9,750)

Annexations
Boundary Line Adjustments
Conditional Use Permits
Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk

Waivers
Home Occupation Permits
Parking Waivers
Parcel Maps
Reversions to Acreage
Revocable Permits
Rezones
Subdivisions
Temporary Use Permits
Vacations
Variances

2020
$ 0

$ 800
$ 3,325

$ 0

$ 1,550
$ 0

$ 2,275
$ 0

$ 1,600
$ 1,000

$ 11,450
$ 300

$ 2,400
$ 1,500

2019
$ 0

$ 1,200
$ 9,375

$ 500

$ 2,100
$ 0

$ 2,225
$ 0

$ 400
$ 2,500

$ 13,200
$ 300

$ 2,400
$ 1,750



24 Institute for Local Government

conditional  
Use Permits
Conditional uses are land uses that 
may be approved under the zoning 
code but only upon meeting specific 
conditions.66 The conditional use permit 
(also called a “special use permit”) 
allows a local agency to more closely 
review individual projects that could 
negatively affect neighboring land uses. 
Staff and the planning commission (or 
other review body) can then develop a 
set of conditions to minimize the impact 
before authorizing the development. 

Common conditions on approval 
include limited hours of operation, road 
improvements, soundproofing, additional 
landscaping, and additional parking. The 
permit is granted on the land, not to the 
property owner, and will remain valid 
even if the property changes owners.67 
The original permit may provide that the 
agency can modify the permit terms in 
the future, subject to providing notice 
and a hearing.68 A conditional use permit 
may be revoked for noncompliance or 
other reasons cited in the permit, subject 
to notice and a hearing.69

variances
A variance is a limited waiver of zoning 
standards for a use that is already 
permitted within a zone.70 Variances 
are considered only in extraordinary 
circumstances when the physical 
characteristics of a property, (such as 
size, shape, topography, location, or 
surroundings) or its use pose a unique 
hardship to the property owner.71 A 
variance can only be granted in special 
cases where the strict application of 
zoning regulations deprives the owner of 
a use enjoyed by other property owners 
in the same zone.72 

Economic hardship alone is an 
insufficient justification to approve a 
variance. A variance may not be used to 
permit a land use that is not otherwise 
allowed in a zone, such as a heavy 
industrial use within a residential zone. 
This would require a zoning change.



 Understanding the Basics of Land Use and Planning: Guide to Local Planning 25

floating and  
overlay Zones
A zoning ordinance may include 
regulations for a type of zone that is 
not tied to any piece of property on 
the zoning map. This is referred to as 
a floating zone. The zone “floats” until 
such time that a property owner requests 
to have it applied to his or her land 
through rezoning. A common example 
is a mixed-use district. The zoning 
conditions associated with mixed-use 
development “attach” as soon as the 
proposal is approved. 

An overlay zone, on the other hand, 
places additional regulations on existing 
zones within areas of special concern. 
Their boundaries are fixed and usually 
encompass all or part of multiple 
zones. Overlay zones are often used in 
floodplains, hillsides, near fault lines, 
around airports, and in other areas where 
additional regulations are necessary to 
ensure public safety. Overlay zones are 
also commonly applied to downtowns 
and historic districts to ensure a certain 
aesthetic character.

Planned Unit 
developments
A planned unit development (“PUD”) 
is both a zoning classification and a 
type of development. Also sometimes 
referred to as “planned communities,” 
planned unit developments normally 
consist of individually owned lots 
with common areas for open space, 
recreation and street improvements. 
Conventional zoning standards are often 
set aside to permit a more imaginative 
use of undeveloped property, such as 
clustering residential uses or integrating 
compatible commercial and industrial 
uses. Any substantial alteration in 
the physical characteristics of the 
development usually requires that 
rezoning procedures be followed.73 



26 Institute for Local Government

nonconforming 
Uses
There are two types of nonconforming 
uses: illegal and legal. Legal 
nonconforming uses — sometimes 
called grandfathered uses — are 
lawful uses that were in place prior 
to the adoption of the current zoning 
ordinance.74 Such uses are generally 
permitted for as long as they operate 
lawfully.75 However, the use typically 
is not allowed to expand or be 
replaced if voluntarily abandoned or 
accidentally destroyed.76 The idea is 
to strike a balance between the notion 
of fairness (the use was lawful at the 
time of development) and the changed 
circumstances of the community (the 
use is no longer compatible with the 
character of the area).

A local agency may require that a 
legal nonconforming use terminate 
after a reasonable period of time (for 
example, after the investment has been 
amortized).77 This allows the owner 
enough time to recoup the value of the 
investment in developing the property 
while also addressing the needs of the 
community. 

On the other hand, illegal 

nonconforming uses are those that 
were built or started in violation of an 
existing zoning ordinance. Such uses 
are not allowed. Local agencies have 
the right to require that such uses be 
terminated immediately, regardless 
of the property owner’s investment. 
Illegal nonconforming uses are usually 
addressed through code enforcement. 

rEsoUrcEs for  
fUrThEr InforMaTIon
Institute for Local government

Land Use One-Pager: About Conditional 
Use Permits (2007) (www.ca-ilg.org/
onepagers)

Land Use One-Pager: About Variances 
(2007) (www.ca-ilg.org/onepagers)

governor’s office of Planning and 
research

The Conditional Use Permit (August 
1997), available at www.ca-ilg.org/opr

The Variance (July 1997), available at 
www.ca-ilg.org/opr

other resources

Government Code Section 65901 
(accessible from www.leginfo.ca.gov/
calaw.html)

Government Code Section 65906 
(accessible from www.leginfo.ca.gov/
calaw.html)



 Understanding the Basics of Land Use and Planning: Guide to Local Planning 27

coMPonEnTs of PLannIng

The General Plan■■

Zoning■■  

subdivisions ✔

Design Review■■

Environmental Review■■

Development Agreements■■

Dedications and Fees■■

A subdivision is any division of 
contiguous land into separate parcels 
for sale, lease, or financing.78 Any 
land transaction that legally separates 
property into distinct ownership units in 
which long-term ownership rights can 
be vested is a subdivision. California’s 
Subdivision Map Act79 governs how 
local agencies oversee the subdivision 
of land. The process encourages orderly 
development and also protects against 
fraud by assuring that all subdivisions 
are recorded with the county recorder.80 

Each city, charter city, and county must 
adopt an ordinance that designates a 
local process for subdivision approval.81 
Local ordinances can be more restrictive 
than the Map Act so long as they are 
consistent with its provisions. 

The Map Act contains two procedures to 
process subdivision applications based 
on project size. “Major subdivisions” 
— those with five or more parcels — 
require more formal procedures that 
involve filing both a tentative map and 
a final map for approval.82 On the other 
hand, “minor subdivisions” — those that 
involve four or fewer parcels — require 
only a single parcel map (unless the 
local ordinance specifies that tentative 

maps be filed for minor subdivisions as 
well).83 The reasoning for this distinction 
is that minor subdivisions are less likely 
to raise complex issues, such as traffic 
and infrastructure needs. 

A tentative map depicts the design 
and improvement of the proposed 
subdivision and the existing conditions 
that surround it.84 The local agency 
reviews the tentative map to see if it 
meets local subdivision and zoning 
requirements. The local agency may 
impose conditions of approval to ensure 
that the development of the project is 
consistent with the general plan, zoning, 
public works and building standards, and 
any environmental mitigation measures 
adopted for the project.85 

Subdivisions 



28 Institute for Local Government

TyPEs of sUbdIvIsIon MaPs90

Parcel Maps
Procedures and approvals for parcel maps are left to local ordinance.91 The primary difference between 
parcel maps and tentative maps is the number of conditions that can be applied. With a parcel map, 
a city or county can only impose requirements for the dedication of rights-of-way, easements, and the 
construction of reasonable off-site and on-site improvements for the parcels that are being created.92

Tentative Maps
Tentative maps typically illustrate the proposed design of the lots, public streets, sidewalks, parks, 
utilities, and other improvements. After a public hearing, the local agency may approve, conditionally 
approve, or deny the map. The agency may impose additional conditions that are consistent with the 
general plan and the zoning ordinance when approving a tentative map.93 

vesting Tentative Maps
Some tentative maps are filed as “vesting tentative maps.”94 This type of map confers a vested right 
to proceed with the development in accordance with the local ordinances, policies, and standards in 
effect when the local agency deemed the map application complete. Vesting tentative maps must be 
processed just like a standard tentative map. However, local agencies may impose additional application 
requirements and almost all do, which is why developers do not always use vesting tentative maps.

Once the tentative map is approved, the 
applicant will then prepare a final map 
that is more technically correct and 
incorporates any conditions imposed by 
the local agency. All conditions must 
either be performed or guaranteed — by 
agreement, bond, letter of credit, or other 
financial security — before the final map 
can be approved.86 An engineer usually 
reviews the final map.87 

Approval of the final map is a ministerial 
act — meaning there is no discretion to 
reject the final map if all the conditions 
are met.88 The approved final map is 
then recorded with the county and 
the applicant can proceed with the 
development.89

rEsoUrcEs for  
fUrThEr InforMaTIon
Institute for Local government

Land Use One-Pager: About 
Subdivisions (2007) (www.ca-ilg.org/
onepagers)

other resources

Government Code Section 66411 and 
following (accessible from www.leginfo.
ca.gov/calaw.html)


































































	02-02-21 Agenda.pdf (p.1-3)
	01-05-2021 - DRAFT Minutes.pdf (p.4-12)
	Item I.A.1. New Business - Public Hearing - TM 12-20 Zephyr Heights.pdf (p.13-94)
	Item I.A.2. New Business - Public Hearing - Rez 6-20 Jordanelle.pdf (p.95-113)
	Item I.B.1. Misc. 2020 Annual PC Report.pdf (p.114-121)
	PC Training.pdf (p.122-126)
	Zoning Bulletin 01-10-21.pdf (p.127-134)
	Zoning Bulletin 11-10-20.pdf (p.135-142)
	Zoning Bulletin 11-25-20.pdf (p.143-150)
	Zoning Bulletin 12-10-20.pdf (p.151-158)

